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B U S I N E S S  D E S C R I P T I O N

Woodward designs, manufactures, and services energy control systems and components for aircraft and 
industrial engines and turbines. Leading OEMs throughout the world use our products and services in the 
power generation, process industries, transportation, and aerospace markets.

F I N A N C I A L  H I G H L I G H T S

Fiscal year ended September 30,

(In thousands except per share amounts and other year-end data) 2005 2004 2003

OPERATING RESULTS

 Net sales $ 827,726 $ 709,805 $ 586,682
 Net earnings 55,971 31,382 12,346
  Basic per share amount 4.91 2.78 1.10
  Diluted per share amount 4.78 2.71 1.08
CASH DIVIDENDS PER SHARE 1.04 0.96 0.9525
YEAR-END FINANCIAL POSITION

 Working capital 241,066 197,524 151,262
 Total assets 705,466 654,294 615,999
 Long-term debt, less current portion 72,942 88,452 89,970
 Shareholders’ equity 432,469 385,861 360,804
OTHER YEAR-END DATA

 Worker members 3,513 3,287 3,273
 Registered shareholder members 1,448 1,529 1,576
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* Net earnings for 2002 included a $2.5 million reduction, or $0.21 per diluted share, for a cumulative effect of accounting charge related to 

goodwill. Beginning in 2002, goodwill was no longer amortized. Net earnings for 2001 included goodwill-related amortization, net of 

income taxes, of $2.9 million, or $0.25 per diluted share.



D E A R  S H A R E H O L D E R S :  
Fiscal year 2005 was a year of strategic progress  

and improved financial performance. Virtually all our 

markets were strong, which translated into a high 

demand for Woodward’s systems and components  

across our industrial and aircraft markets.

From the beginning of the year, we aimed our strategic 

agenda at driving financial performance and higher 

returns, converting more of our revenue growth into 

profitability through operational excellence—in short—

building value.

We remain tightly focused on our energy control 

solutions strategy that centers on providing advanced 

control solutions for combustion (or thermal energy), 

fluid energy, and electrical energy. Additionally, we are 

broadening our capabilities in motion control technologies 

as a closely related expansion of these core competencies.

At mid-year, as part of our structured succession 

planning process, John Halbrook, who remains as 

chairman of the board, stepped down as chief executive 

officer. On July 1, 2005, I was elected as a director of 

Woodward and president and chief executive officer. 

Both the leadership team and I are pleased that  

John will continue on our board, providing counsel  

and guidance.

In August, Bob Weber joined Woodward as chief 

financial officer and treasurer, replacing Steve Carter 

who had announced his intention to retire. Bob’s 

experience in finance and general management is  

a valuable addition to our executive team. In any 

organization, the advent of new leadership is an 

opportunity to re-energize, re-affirm aspirations, and  

re-dedicate the company. Bob and I see this as an 

integral part of the leadership transition at Woodward 

and will continue to aggressively build value for the 

organization.

STRATEGIC PROGRESS 2005 

Woodward is committed to investing in its broad 

portfolio of technologies to remain a leader in energy 

control solutions for engines and turbines. In 2005,  

amid heavy new product development activities for our 

customers, we raised our company-wide investment in 

product development by 25 percent from a year ago, to 

$50 million.

Our role as fuel system integrator for the new GE GEnx 

turbofan engine for the Boeing 787, Airbus A350, and 

Boeing 747 Advanced, announced early in fiscal year 2005, 

solidified our growth in the commercial wide-body market, 

expanding upon our existing wide-body applications on 

the Airbus A380 and Boeing 777.

Most importantly, from a strategic standpoint, the GEnx 

program helped position Woodward as a preferred 

supplier of integrated systems, confirming that our fuel 

system strategy is successful with our customers. GE 

expects the GEnx engine, which has attracted over  

$2 billion in orders, to enter service in 2008.

Competitive wins in the military market are also 

positioning us for the future. Woodward will supply 

components for the GE Rolls-Royce F136 engine,  

one of two choices to power Lockheed’s Joint Strike 

Fighter aircraft.

GE also selected Woodward to supply fuel metering 

units for the T700-GE-701D engine that will be used to 

upgrade the Sikorsky Black Hawk and Boeing Apache 

helicopters. During 2005, military aircraft OEM and 

aftermarket business in total accounted for approximately 

11 percent of Woodward’s sales. These successes have 

added substantially to our development activity.

We also increased development activities in Industrial 

Controls, most notably in combustion sensing technologies 

and in product development for the turbine auxiliary 
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market. Turbine auxiliary applications offer multiple 

opportunities to leverage existing Woodward hydraulic 

and electric actuation and valve technologies for off-

engine applications.

Additionally in 2005, Industrial Controls launched the  

on-highway OH 2.0, a next-generation system to enable 

heavy-duty natural gas engines to meet new and tighter 

emissions requirements. This cost-effective system 

solidifies our leadership role in natural gas controls and 

exemplifies our integrated systems solution strategy.

OPERATIONAL EXCELLENCE 

Consolidating our European and Asian operations was a 

key element in our plan to improve profitability. Early  

in the fiscal year, we announced the consolidations to 

rationalize production capacity, realign sales and service 

capabilities, and reduce overhead.

When the consolidations are completed at the end of  

our fiscal 2006 second quarter, we estimate that annual 

savings will approximate $9 million to $11 million, most 

of it emerging in 2006.

In addition to the international restructuring, we remain 

focused on continuing our improvements in quality and 

efficiency, particularly in supply chain functions where 

operational excellence is critical to realizing our potential 

operating leverage. During the year, we rigorously 

applied a broad set of continuous improvement tools, 

targeting operational performance, supply chain, and  

cost initiatives.

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE 

At Woodward, strong ethical behavior is a cornerstone  

of our corporate culture. With changes in leadership,  

our legacy has remained constant and our commitment 

reaffirmed. As you know, the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of  

2002 was legislated to significantly raise the level of 

internal control compliance and ethical behavior across 

corporate America.

We successfully completed the requirements of the  

Act relating to internal controls over financial reporting 

and concluded that our internal controls were operating 

effectively as of September 30, 2005.

Regarding our financial performance for the year, net 

sales for 2005 were $827,726,000, an increase of 17 percent 

from a year ago. Net earnings were $55,971,000, or $4.78 

per diluted share, compared with $31,382,000, or $2.71 

per diluted share.

Although we view 2005 profitability as below our 

expectations, the year-over-year improvement was a step 

in the right direction. We expect to make significant 

progress in our industrial segment in fiscal year 2006 as  

the savings from the international restructuring materialize.

Our strong balance sheet and operating cash flow allow 

us to fund expanded research and development and to 

explore other investment opportunities consistent with 

our focused strategies.

Several shareholder developments occurred in 2005. Early 

in the year, Woodward’s Board of Directors raised the 

quarterly dividend and authorized the repurchase  

of up to $30,000,000 of Woodward common stock.

Late in the fiscal year, the Board of Directors 

recommended a three-for-one split of Woodward’s 

common stock for shareholder approval at the  

January 25, 2006, annual meeting. These actions were 

based on Woodward’s financial strength, growth 

prospects, and increasing confidence in our outlook.

LOOKING AHEAD 

In anticipation of cost savings, operational excellence 

initiatives, and continued demand in our aircraft and 

industrial markets, we believe there will again be 

improved financial performance for 2006, compared  

with 2005. Visibility beyond 2006 is less clear; however, 

economic indicators suggest up cycles may be sustained 

beyond 2006.

We remain focused on our goals to improve the return to 

our shareholders:

 • Broaden energy control solutions

 • Expand system solutions

 • Execute growth initiatives

 • Improve financial performance

I want to thank our Board for their guidance and 

dedication and our members for their hard work and 

enthusiasm in making Woodward the world leader in 

energy control system solutions.

Sincerely,

Thomas A. Gendron 
President and Chief Executive Officer
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MARKET STRATEGY

P O W E R  E Q U I P M E N T :
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BUILDING VALUE THROUGH CUSTOMER RELATIONSHIPS

Our customers recognize the inherent value of Woodward’s engineering capabilities, our manufacturing 

expertise, and our product support and services. Through close customer relationships, we are gaining 

content on power equipment and increasing our aftermarket revenues.

We focus on building value for our engine and turbine 

customers by developing energy control solutions. With 

Woodward’s fuel delivery, electronics, and combustion 

control technologies, we help satisfy the market demands 

of our customers.

CUSTOMER RELATIONSHIPS
Our vision at Woodward is to create value through 

outstanding customer relationships. From research and 

development to end-of-life product support, we align our 

activities to respond to our customers’ business needs.

Our primary path to market is through systems and 

component sales to original equipment manufacturers 

(OEMs) and power equipment packagers as well as the 

service of products in the field.

Our global customer base is comprised of the leaders in 

each market we serve and continues as the foundation 

for our growth and ongoing success. Examples of these 

key relationships include:

Power Generation
Caterpillar
Cummins
GE
Mitsubishi
Siemens

Process Industries
Caterpillar
Ebara
GE 
Mitsubishi

Transportation
Caterpillar
Cummins
Doosan
GE
Guangxi Yuchai Machinery

Aerospace
GE 
UTC/Pratt & Whitney
Rolls-Royce

At Woodward, we never take our customers for granted. 

We are passionate about always providing our customers 

with the best total solution that meets their expectations.

SYSTEM SOLUTIONS
Several years ago, we launched a project with Pratt & 

Whitney Canada to develop the engine fuel delivery 

system for their PW600 engine family program for very 

light jets. As the control and ignition systems provider 

for the PW615 engine, Woodward is responsible for 

almost 25 percent of the total engine value.

Powered by two PW615 engines, the four- to five-

passenger Cessna Citation Mustang will expand the 

availability and affordability of private jet travel. Less 

than three years after Cessna announced plans to build 

the Mustang, a prototype debuted at EAA AirVenture 

Oshkosh 2005, a premier aviation event in Wisconsin.

When GE selected Woodward as the fuel systems 

integrator for the GEnx engine, we solidified our  

systems strategy and increased our share in the wide-

body commercial aircraft market. The GEnx, scheduled 

to enter service in 2008, will power Boeing’s 787 and 

747 Advanced and the Airbus A350.

In the industrial market, our on-highway (OH) engine 

control systems are helping meet the fast-growing 

demand for clean-burning, compressed natural gas 

(CNG) and liquid propane gas (LPG) engines for urban 

buses and trucks. Recently, we introduced the next-

generation OH system—the OH-2.0—to help engine 

manufacturers cost effectively achieve the tightest 

emissions standards and increase fuel efficiency.

This past year, we supplied our OH-1.2 systems to 

Guangxi Yuchai Machinery Group, the largest independent 

engine manufacturer in China. These systems will help 

advance energy independence through the use of natural 

gas fuel sources while addressing China’s critical need 

for clean air.
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The Airbus A380 superjumbo 

jet, currently in test, is 

expected to enter service  

in late 2006.

Woodward Technician Brad 

Steward assembles a fuel 

metering unit, one of four 

Woodward components, for  

the Engine Alliance GP7200 

engine for the Airbus A380.

As engine power equipment 

becomes more automated, 

demand is increasing for 

robust solenoids and 

actuators. Woodward 

Technicians Xiumin Wang 

(front) and Juan Li test 

solenoids.

Various gas and diesel 

engine manufacturers use 

Woodward’s components, 

which ultimately help power 

small mobile industrial 

equipment.

The IAE V2500 engine 

powers the popular Airbus 

A320 family, which presents 

a growing source of 

Woodward aftermarket 

services.

Woodward Technician 

Brenda Riley assembles  

a fuel metering unit (FMU)  

for the IAE V2500 engine. 

Woodward has leveraged  

our FMU technology on 

numerous other aircraft 

engine programs.

Monitoring and controlling  

the quality of combustion  

in engines and turbines is a 

Woodward technology vital 

to meeting tighter emissions 

requirements and improving 

equipment reliability.

The availability of clean  

engine power sources  

will help remove barriers 

inhibiting the construction of 

distributed power generation 

facilities close to cities.

BUILDING VALUE THROUGH SYSTEM SOLUTIONS

With Woodward integrated systems, customers can consolidate component and system testing  

activities, leverage development engineering and purchasing resources, and simplify their  

supply chain.



In fiscal year 2006, Woodward will deliver several 

thousand additional CNG and LPG bus engine control 

systems to Yuchai. Currently, we are developing OH 

system business in Brazil, Eastern Europe, and Russia, 

emerging powers in the global marketplace.

INNOVATION
Woodward continually explores solutions to help our 

engine and turbine customers achieve the next level of 

emissions standards. Precise control of fuel, air, and the 

combustion process is crucial to reducing emissions, so 

we are targeting our research and development (R&D) 

efforts at these key technology areas.

For example, two leading turbine manufacturers have 

engaged us in R&D contracts to develop SmartFire™ 

combustion sensing technology. This technology can  

be used to monitor and control combustion dynamics, 

allowing customers to further enhance the reliability, 

availability, and maintainability of their large-scale gas 

turbine products.

With the newly commissioned combustion test facility  

at our manufacturing site in Zeeland, Michigan, we can 

perform advanced testing, a pivotal step in developing 

Woodward’s combustion innovations for all our markets.

As a company founded on innovation, we know that 

research and development is critical to sustain success. 

We developed a new aircraft fuel metering unit (FMU) 

platform that incorporated proven and advanced 

technologies to lower weight, cost, and improve reliability.

The FMU platform first entered revenue service on  

the IAE V2500 engine. We have since leveraged our 

technology into other aircraft engine programs—the 

Rolls-Royce BR700, GE CF34 and GE90, the Engine 

Alliance GP7200, GE GEnx, and GE Rolls-Royce F136.  

We continually enhance our product platforms through 

technology and innovative thinking, which positions 

Woodward well for future programs.

FOCUSED GROWTH
While relying on our core competencies, we are 

expanding into related markets to increase our market 

share with foundation customers. Leveraging existing 

technologies, Woodward developed an integrated 

turbine auxiliary valve system to control the flow of 

steam, water, and other fluids around the power plant.

Recently, a key customer selected Woodward to supply 

our valve systems for off-turbine steam flow control for 

an advanced steam-cooled turbine system. Although 

large by Woodward standards—nine feet tall and 

weighing 7,500 pounds—this new hydraulic spring  

(H-Spring) technology reduces the size and total 

installed costs of these units by 40 percent.

As revenue growth from Asia continues to improve, 

Woodward is responding by increasing our sales, service, 

support, and manufacturing presence in key markets, 

including India, Korea, and China.

Woodward operates two manufacturing facilities in 

China, one in Tianjin and the other in Suzhou. We 

recently relocated the Tianjin plant into a new 46,000 

square-foot facility and almost doubled our manufacturing 

space in Suzhou—positioning Woodward to serve our 

Western and Asian OEM customers better while further 

developing our presence in the China market.

Building on our strong power management control 

technologies, Woodward signed an agreement for power 

generation and power distribution applications with  

a major manufacturer of paralleling switchgear and 

automatic transfer switch systems, representing an 

expansion of Woodward’s core business.
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BUILDING VALUE THROUGH INNOVATION

We are a company of individuals inspired to find better ways to execute our strategies and accomplish our 

goals. We challenge the status quo; we actively investigate all possibilities; and we drive technological 

change. Our success lies in implementing new ideas and incorporating new technologies to create value 

for our power equipment customers.
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In addition to core fuel 

control on gas turbines, 

valve systems are used to 

control the flow of steam, 

cooling water, feedwater,  

and other fluids throughout a 

combined-cycle power plant.

Technician Tim Lippert and 

Mechanical Engineer Wade 

Burdick discuss the test 

program for Woodward’s  

new H-Spring actuated  

steam valve. The steam 

valve represents Woodward’s 

expansion into new markets 

for our fluid control 

technologies.

Our integrated engine control 

system and ignition system 

are in the final stages  

of certification testing. 

Woodward’s ability to supply 

systems simplifies Pratt & 

Whitney Canada’s assembly 

and test for the PW600 

family of engines.

The very light jet market is 

one that holds promise for 

rapid growth. The Cessna 

Citation Mustang is expected 

to be among the first new 

low-cost business jets to 

enter service.

Woodward’s GCP-30 

integrated generator system 

controls, and others like it, 

are being used throughout 

the world to provide cost-

effective and easy-to-use 

control of engine- and 

turbine-power generation 

equipment.

We are expanding beyond 

our core application of  

power generation to provide 

similar technologies for 

controlling power throughout 

the distribution systems of 

industrial and commercial 

facilities.

Woodward Designer Gary 

Linscheid and Development 

Engineer David Kettle, part  

of the GE GEnx fuel system 

project team, discuss the 

manifold suite design to  

ensure it meets the system’s 

performance, weight, and  

cost targets.

Woodward solidified our 

systems supply strategy  

as fuel systems integrator  

for GE’s new generation 

turbofan engine—the GEnx 

engine—which will power  

the Boeing 787.

BUILDING VALUE THROUGH FOCUSED GROWTH

We stake our reputation on developing integrated energy control systems and components for  

engines and turbines that power the world’s infrastructure. We are increasing revenues and  

market share by implementing carefully planned growth initiatives.
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Under the agreement, Woodward is developing 

customized, private-labeled control modules. This 

component will enhance our customer’s expertise in 

power distribution applications, where switchgear 

controls are applied not only at the engine generator 

set—a traditional Woodward strength—but throughout 

an entire industrial facility.

As Woodward increases its revenues by winning OEM 

programs, we continue to build value as a key supplier 

of aircraft engine aftermarket products and services to 

our large installed base.

This year, at our repair facility in Prestwick, UK, we 

began offering our customers additional maintenance, 

repair, and overhaul services to support a growing 

demand in the European market. In fact, we recently 

signed a long-term agreement with FedEx to service our 

engine fuel controls and sensors for their global fleet.

PROVEN STRATEGIES
We use our energy control technologies to develop and 

produce components that we integrate into systems. 

With a comprehensive technology portfolio, we can meet 

market challenges such as reducing emissions, improving 

efficiencies, and lowering costs. By executing our proven 

strategies, we solidify our position as a global leader in 

the power generation, transportation, process industries, 

and aerospace markets.

BUILDING VALUE THROUGH PROVEN STRATEGIES

We remain committed to our energy control strategies by continuing to expand our broad portfolio of 

technologies through acquisitions, product development, and licensing agreements. By focusing on our 

strategies to satisfy the technology and market demands, we are securing new business and positioning 

Woodward for continued growth.

Woodward actuation and 

valve technologies are an 

integral part of a new 

common rail diesel fuel 

pump. Technician Henri 

Siedow inspects the pump’s 

fuel delivery valve system.

Powering the Boeing 737 

classic series, the CFM56-3 

engine is a workhorse in the 

airline industry. Woodward’s 

main engine control has 

been a steady source of 

aftermarket revenue and is 

anticipated to continue for 

many years.

Woodward Technician 

David Kilts tests an In-

Pulse™ II control, which 

provides precise control 

of the injection of diesel 

or natural gas fuels into 

medium-speed engines 

for the power generation, 

process industries, and 

transportation markets.

Woodward supplies fuel 

nozzles for GE’s CF34-8 

engine that powers the 

Bombardier CRJ700 and 

CRJ900 regional jets, as well 

as the Embraer 170 regional 

jet. These aircraft are 

becoming increasingly 

popular among regional 

airlines and legacy carriers.
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PART I

Item 1. Business

Woodward Governor Company designs, manufactures, and services energy control systems and compo-
nents for aircraft and industrial engines and turbines. Leading OEMs (original equipment manufacturers)
throughout the world use our products and services in the power generation, process industries, transportation,
and aerospace markets.

We were established in 1870 and incorporated in 1902. Our headquarters are in Rockford, Illinois, and we
serve global markets from locations worldwide.

To penetrate our target markets Ì power generation, process industries, transportation, and aerospace Ì
our strategy focuses on maintaining and developing expertise in technologies that are used in the development
of components and integrated systems for power equipment used by customers worldwide.

‚ Technologies include fuel systems, combustion control systems, electronic controls and software,
systems integration, and services.

‚ Components include turbine valves and actuators, engine valves and actuators, diesel fuel injection
equipment, fuel metering units, engine and turbine electronic controls, genset and switchgear controls,
gas turbine fuel nozzles, ignition systems, fuel pumps, servovalves, and governors.

‚ Integrated systems provide total system solutions involving the application of our technologies and
components into innovative control, fuel delivery, combustion, and automation systems that help
customers operate cleaner, more cost effective, and more reliable power equipment.

‚ Power equipment that makes use of our components and systems include industrial diesel and gas
engines, industrial gas turbines, steam turbines, compressors, gensets and switchgear, aircraft gas
turbines, and fuel cells.

‚ Customers that manufacture power equipment and/or use our components and systems include
Caterpillar, Cummins, Kobota, Yanmar, Mitsubishi, MAN, GE, Siemens, Dresser-Rand, Ingersoll-
Rand, Doosan, Hyundai, Rolls-Royce, Pratt & Whitney, U.S. Government, major airlines worldwide,
Wartsila, and DaimlerChrysler, among others.

We have two operating segments Ì Industrial Controls and Aircraft Engine Systems. Industrial Controls
is focused on the technologies, components, integrated systems, power equipment, and customers for industrial
markets, which includes power generation, transportation, and process industries. Aircraft Engine Systems is
focused on the technologies, components, integrated systems, power equipment, and customers for the
aerospace market.

Information about our operations in 2005 and outlook for the future, including certain segment
information, is included in ""Item 7 Ì Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and
Results of Operation.'' Additional segment information and certain geographical information are included in
the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements in ""Item 8 Ì Financial Statements and Supplementary
Data.'' Other information about our business follows.

Industrial Controls

We provide components and integrated systems through Industrial Controls primarily to OEMs of
industrial diesel and gas engines, industrial gas turbines, steam turbines, compressors, gensets and switchgears,
and fuel cells. We also sell components as spares or replacements, and provide other related services to these
customers and other customers. In 2005, our two largest customers were General Electric Company, which
accounted for approximately 22% of Industrial Controls' sales, and Caterpillar, Inc., which accounted for
approximately 19% of Industrial Controls' sales.

We generally sell Industrial Controls' products and services directly to our OEM customers, although we
also generate sales to end users through distributors, dealers, and independent service facilities. We carry
certain finished goods and component parts inventory to meet rapid delivery requirements of customers,
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primarily for aftermarket needs. We do not believe Industrial Controls' sales are subject to significant seasonal
variation.

We believe Industrial Controls has a significant competitive position within the market for components
and integrated systems for industrial diesel and gas engines, industrial gas turbines, steam turbines,
compressors, gensets and switchgears, and fuel cells. While published information is not available in sufficient
detail to enable an accurate assessment, we believe we hold a strong position among independent manufactur-
ers for power generation, transportation, and process industries markets. We compete with as many as 10
independent manufacturers and with the in-house control operations of OEMs. Customers demand technolog-
ical solutions to meet their needs for efficiency, reliability, and the ability to meet increasingly more stringent
global emissions regulations. Companies compete on the basis of providing products that meet these needs, as
well as on the basis of price, quality, and customer service. In our opinion, our prices are generally competitive
and our quality, customer service, and technology used in products are favorable competitive factors.

Industrial Controls' backlog orders were approximately $119 million at October 31, 2005, approximately
99% of which we expect to fill by September 30, 2006. Last year, Industrial Controls' backlog orders were
approximately $112 million at October 31, 2004, approximately 98% of which we expected to fill by
September 30, 2005. Backlog orders are not necessarily an indicator of future billing levels because of
variations in lead times.

Industrial Controls' products make use of several patents and trademarks of various durations that we
believe are collectively important. However, we do not consider our business dependent upon any one patent or
trademark. Our products consist of mechanical, electronic, and electromagnetic components. Mechanical
components are machined primarily from aluminum, iron, and steel. Generally there are numerous sources for
the raw materials and components used in our products, and they are believed to be sufficiently available to
meet all Industrial Controls' requirements.

Aircraft Engine Systems

We provide components and integrated systems through Aircraft Engine Systems to OEMs of aircraft gas
turbines for use in those turbines. We also sell components as spares or replacements, and provide repair and
overhaul services to these customers and other customers. In 2005, our largest customer was General Electric
Company, which accounted for approximately 25% of Aircraft Engine Systems' sales.

We primarily sell Aircraft Engine Systems' products and services directly to our customers, although we
also generate some aftermarket sales through distributors, dealers, and independent service facilities. We carry
certain finished goods and component parts inventory to meet rapid delivery requirements of customers,
primarily for aftermarket needs. We do not believe Aircraft Engine Systems' sales are subject to significant
seasonal variation.

We believe Aircraft Engine Systems has a significant competitive position within the market for
components and integrated systems for aircraft gas turbines. We compete with several other manufacturers,
including divisions of OEMs of aircraft gas turbines. While published information is not available in sufficient
detail to enable an accurate assessment, we do not believe any company holds a dominant competitive
position. Companies compete principally on price, quality, and customer service. In our opinion, our prices are
competitive, and our quality and customer service are favorable competitive factors.

Aircraft Engine Systems' backlog orders were approximately $137 million at October 31, 2005,
approximately 71% of which we expect to fill by September 30, 2006. Last year, Aircraft Engine Systems'
backlog orders were $148 million at October 31, 2004, approximately 84% of which we expected to fill by
September 30, 2005. Backlog orders are not necessarily an indicator of future billing levels because of
variations in lead times.

Aircraft Engine Systems' products make use of several patents and trademarks of various durations that
we believe are collectively important. However, we do not consider our business dependent upon any one
patent or trademark. Our products consist of mechanical, electronic, and electromagnetic components.
Mechanical components are machined primarily from aluminum and steel. Generally there are numerous
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sources for the raw materials and components used in our products, and they are believed to be sufficiently
available to meet all Aircraft Engine Systems' requirements.

Other Matters

We spent approximately $50 million for company-sponsored research and development activities in 2005,
$40 million in 2004, and $42 million in 2003. Both Industrial Controls and Aircraft Engine Systems incurred
these expenses.

We do not believe that compliance with current Federal, State, or local provisions regulating the
discharge of materials into the environment, or otherwise relating to the protection of the environment, will
have any material effect on our capital expenditures, earnings, or competitive position. We are also not
intending to incur material capital expenditures for environmental control facilities through September 30,
2006.

We employed about 3,500 people at October 31, 2005.

This report contains forward-looking statements and should be read with Factors That May Affect Future
Results in ""Item 7 Ì Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations.''

We maintain a website at www.woodward.com. Securities and Exchange Commission filings, including
annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K, and amendments
to those reports, are available on our website as soon as reasonably practicable after they are filed
electronically with, or furnished to, the Securities and Exchange Commission. Shareholders may obtain,
without charge, a single copy of Woodward's 2005 annual report on Form 10-K upon written request to the
Corporate Secretary, Woodward Governor Company, 5001 North Second Street, P.O. Box 7001, Rockford,
Illinois, 61125-7001.

Item 2. Properties

Our principal plants are as follows:

United States

Fort Collins, Colorado Ì Industrial Controls manufacturing
Loveland, Colorado Ì Industrial Controls manufacturing and partially leased to a third party
Niles, Illinois Ì Industrial Controls manufacturing
Rockford, Illinois Ì Aircraft Engine Systems manufacturing and corporate offices
Rockton, Illinois Ì Aircraft Engine Systems manufacturing and repair and overhaul
Zeeland, Michigan Ì Aircraft Engine Systems manufacturing
Greenville, South Carolina (leased) Ì Industrial Controls manufacturing

Other Countries

Suzhou, Peoples Republic of China (leased) Ì Industrial Controls manufacturing
Aken, Germany (leased) Ì Industrial Controls manufacturing
Stuttgart, Germany (leased) Ì Industrial Controls manufacturing
Prestwick, Scotland, United Kingdom (leased) Ì Aircraft Engine Systems repair and overhaul

Our principal plants are suitable and adequate for the manufacturing and other activities performed at
those plants, and we believe our utilization levels are generally high. With continuing advancements in
manufacturing technology and operational improvements, we believe we can continue to increase production
without additional plants.

In 2005, we consolidated manufacturing operations that existed in The Netherlands, United Kingdom,
and Japan with operations that existed in the United States, Germany, and China to gain production cost
efficiencies. We are using the facilities in The Netherlands, United Kingdom, and Japan (all of which are
owned) for sales and service activities. In addition, the facility in the United Kingdom remains a key
development site for diesel fuel injection products.
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In addition to the principal plants listed above, we lease several facilities in locations worldwide, used
primarily for sales and service activities.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings

We are currently involved in pending or threatened litigation or other legal proceedings regarding
employment, product liability, and contractual matters arising from the normal course of business. These
matters are discussed in the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements in ""Item 8 Ì Financial
Statements and Supplementary Data.'' We currently do not have any administrative or judicial proceedings
arising under any Federal, State, or local provisions regulating the discharge of materials into the environment
or primarily for the purpose of protecting the environment.

Item 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders

There were no matters submitted to a vote of security holders during the fourth quarter of the year ended
September 30, 2005.

PART II

Item 5. Market for Registrant's Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of
Equity Securities

(a) Our common stock is listed on The NASDAQ National Market and at November 16, 2005, there
were approximately 1,445 holders of record. Cash dividends were declared quarterly during 2005 and 2004.
The amount of cash dividends per share and the high and low sales price per share for our common stock for
each fiscal quarter in 2005 and 2004 are included in the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements in
""Item 8 Ì Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.''

(b) Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities

Sales of common stock issued from treasury to one of the company's directors during the year ended
September 30, 2005, consisted of the following:

Total
Number of

Shares Consideration
Date Purchased Received

December 1, 2004 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 82 $5,934

January 31, 2005 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 57 4,054

April 29, 2005ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 87 5,952

August 1, 2005 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 69 6,024

The securities were sold in reliance upon the exemption contained in Section 4(2) of the Securities Act
of 1933.

(c) Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities
(a) (b) (c) (d)

Total Number of Approximate Dollar
Shares Purchased Value of Shares

Total as Part of That May Yet Be
Number of Average Publicly Purchased Under

Shares Price Paid Announced Plans the Plans or
Period Purchased Per Share or Programs Programs

July 1, 2005 through July 31, 2005 Ì $ Ì Ì $26,208,982

August 1, 2005 through August 31,
2005 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 32,864 83.57 32,864 23,462,451

September 1, 2005 through
September 30, 2005 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 9,762 81.56 9,253 22,707,455

TotalÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 42,626 $83.11 42,117
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Included in September are 509 shares purchased on the open market related to the reinvestment of
dividends for treasury shares held for deferred compensation.

On January 26, 2005, the Board of Directors authorized the repurchase of up to $30 million of our
outstanding shares of common stock on the open market and in private transactions over a three-year period.
There have been no terminations or expirations since the approval date.

Item 6. Selected Financial Data
For the Year Ended September 30,

2005 2004 2003 2002 2001 2000

(In thousands of dollars except per share amounts)

Net sales ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $827,726 $709,805 $586,682 $679,991 $678,791 $597,385

Earnings before cumulative effect
of accounting changeÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 55,971 31,382 12,346 45,170 53,068 46,976

Goodwill-related amortization, net
of income taxes ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì Ì Ì Ì 2,875 2,660

Adjusted earnings before
cumulative effect of accounting
change ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 55,971 31,382 12,346 45,170 55,943 49,636*

Basic per share amounts:

Earnings before cumulative effect
of accounting changeÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 4.91 2.78 1.10 3.99 4.69 4.17*

Goodwill-related amortization, net
of income taxes ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì Ì Ì Ì 0.25 0.24

Adjusted earnings before
cumulative effect of accounting
change ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 4.91 2.78 1.10 3.99 4.94 4.41

Diluted per share amounts:

Earnings before cumulative effect
of accounting changeÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 4.78 2.71 1.08 3.90 4.59 4.15*

Goodwill-related amortization, net
of income taxes ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì Ì Ì Ì 0.25 0.24

Adjusted earnings before
cumulative effect of accounting
change ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 4.78 2.71 1.08 3.90 4.84 4.39

Cash dividends per share ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 1.04 0.96 0.9525 0.93 0.93 0.93

* Earnings before cumulative effect of accounting change for 2000 include a gain from the sale of business of
$25,500 before income taxes and $17,082 after income taxes, or $1.52 per basic share and $1.51 per diluted
share.
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For the Year Ended September 30,

2005 2004 2003 2002 2001 2000

(In thousands of dollars)

Income taxes ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $23,137 $17,910 $ 7,593 $25,510 $32,887 $27,116

Interest expense ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 5,814 5,332 4,635 5,109 7,554 10,897

Interest incomeÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 2,159 1,095 870 635 967 770

Depreciation expenseÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 24,451 25,856 27,548 28,340 25,677 24,001

Amortization expense ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 7,087 6,905 4,870 3,748 7,055 6,418

Capital expenditures ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 26,615 18,698 18,802 22,898 26,903 27,416

Weighted-average basic shares
outstanding in thousandsÏÏÏÏÏÏ 11,400 11,286 11,246 11,325 11,318 11,263

Weighted-average diluted shares
outstanding in thousandsÏÏÏÏÏÏ 11,709 11,565 11,389 11,577 11,561 11,318

At September 30,

2005 2004 2003 2002 2001 2000

(In thousands of dollars)

Working capital ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $241,066 $197,524 $151,262 $155,440 $123,744 $100,836

Total assets ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 705,466 654,294 615,999 582,395 584,628 533,723

Long-term debt, less current
portion ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 72,942 88,452 89,970 78,192 77,000 74,500

Total debt ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 95,787 95,241 125,744 96,377 105,061 118,284

Shareholder's equityÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 432,469 385,861 360,804 354,901 318,862 275,624

Worker members ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 3,513 3,287 3,273 3,337 3,709 3,302

Registered shareholder members 1,448 1,529 1,576 1,592 1,652 1,742

Item 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

We prepared the following discussion and analysis to help you better understand our financial condition,
changes in our financial condition, and results of operations. This discussion should be read with the
consolidated financial statements.

OVERVIEW

Our business is focused on the design, manufacture, and servicing of energy control systems and
components for aircraft and industrial engines and turbines. To penetrate our target markets Ì power
generation, process industries, transportation, and aerospace Ì our strategy focuses on maintaining and
developing technologies that are used in the development of components and integrated systems for power
equipment used by customers worldwide.

We have two operating segments Ì Industrial Controls and Aircraft Engine Systems. Industrial Controls
is focused on the technologies, components, integrated systems, power equipment, and customers for industrial
markets, which includes power generation, process industries, and transportation. Aircraft Engine Systems is
focused on the technologies, components, integrated systems, power equipment, and customers for the
aerospace market. We use segment information internally to assess the performance of each segment and to
make decisions on the allocation of resources.

Our sales and earnings have increased in each of the last 2 years. Our markets have substantially
recovered from the declines that occurred in 2002 and 2003 and both of our segments benefited from these
recoveries. Lower effective income tax rates also resulted in improved earnings, largely as a result of factors
that we do not expect to continue in the future. Despite a higher tax rate and the requirement to begin
recognizing stock compensation expense, we believe sales and earnings will show further improvement in
2006.
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Our research and development costs increased 25% in 2005. We are committed to investing in our broad
portfolio of technologies to remain a leader in energy control systems and components for aircraft and
industrial engines and turbines. Increased development activity is primarily linked to several customer
program wins in aerospace markets, as well as combustion sensing technologies and product development for
the turbine auxiliary market.

We are also continuing to execute the consolidation of European operations to streamline our organiza-
tion and gain production cost efficiencies. While the majority of the cost for the consolidation was recognized
in 2004 and 2005, substantially all the benefits will begin to be realized in 2006. When the actions are
completed at the end of our second quarter in 2006, we estimate that the annual savings will approximate
$9 million to $11 million as compared to amounts that would have been incurred prior to the actions.

At September 30, 2005, our total assets exceeded $700 million, including $85 million in cash, and our
total debt was less than $100 million. We are well positioned to fund expanded research and development and
to explore other investment opportunities consistent with our focused strategies.

In the sections that follow, we are providing information to help you better understand factors that may
affect our future results, our critical accounting policies and market risks, our results of operations and
financial condition, and the effects of recent accounting pronouncements.

FACTORS THAT MAY AFFECT FUTURE RESULTS

This annual report contains forward-looking statements, including:

‚ Projections of sales, earnings, cash flows, or other financial items;

‚ Descriptions of our plans and objectives for future operations;

‚ Forecasts of future economic performance; and

‚ Descriptions of assumptions underlying the above items.

Forward-looking statements do not reflect historical facts. Rather, they are statements about future
events and conditions and often include words such as ""anticipate,'' ""believe,'' ""estimate,'' ""expect,'' ""intend,''
""plan,'' ""project,'' ""target,'' ""can,'' ""could,'' ""may,'' ""should,'' ""will,'' ""would'' or similar expressions. Such
statements reflect our expectations about the future only as of the date they are made. We are not obligated to,
and we might not, update our forward-looking statements to reflect changes that occur after the date they are
made. Furthermore, actual results could differ materially from projections or any other forward-looking
statement regardless of when they are made.

Important factors that could individually, or together with one or more other factors, affect our business,
results of operations and/or financial condition include, but are not limited to, the following:

‚ General business and economic conditions, including the strength of the global economy (particularly
the economies of the United States, Europe, and Asia), fluctuations in exchange rates of foreign
currencies against the United States dollar (primarily currencies of European and Asian countries),
and fluctuations in interest rates (primarily LIBOR), which affect our cost of borrowings;

‚ Industry-specific business and economic conditions, including the strength of manufacturers of
industrial diesel and gas engines, industrial gas turbines, steam turbines, compressors, gensets and
switchgear, and fuel cells for power generation, transportation, and process industries markets,
manufacturers of aircraft gas turbines for commercial and military aerospace markets, and commercial
airlines;

‚ Significant geopolitical events and actions that impact business and economic conditions, including
acts or threats of terrorism, actions taken by the United States or other governments in response to acts
or threats of terrorism, and trade embargoes;

‚ Changes in the legal environment of the United States and other countries in which we operate,
including changes in the areas of taxation, business acquisitions, and environmental matters;

‚ Changes in competitive conditions, including the availability of new products and services, the
introduction of new channels of distribution, and changes in OEM and aftermarket pricing;
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‚ Reliability of customer and third-party forecasts of sales volumes and purchase requirements in our
markets, including power generation, transportation, process industries, and aerospace markets;

‚ Our ability to continue to develop innovative new products and product enhancements that are
accepted by our customers and markets in accordance with our project schedules and resource plans;

‚ Our ability to complete our consolidation of manufacturing operations in The Netherlands, United
Kingdom, and Japan with existing operations in the United States, Germany, and China that was
begun in 2005 in accordance with anticipated timeframes, cost estimates, and annual savings;

‚ Effects of business acquisitions and/or divestitures, including the incremental effects of the business
acquired or divested, the completion of integration activities within planned timeframes and at planned
cost levels, and the achievement of planned operating efficiencies;

‚ Effects of quality and productivity initiatives, including achievement of expected results from ongoing
improvement programs and maintenance of supplier designation levels with key customers;

‚ Effects of changes in accounting policies resulting from new accounting pronouncements and/or
changes in the selection and application of accounting methods necessary to implement accounting
policies;

‚ Effects of unusual or extraordinary events, or of other events and unforeseen developments involving
litigation or other contingencies.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

We consider the accounting policies used in preparing our financial statements to be critical accounting
policies when they are both important to the portrayal of our financial condition and results of operations, and
require us to make difficult, subjective, or complex judgments. Critical accounting policies normally result
from the need to make estimates about the effect of matters that are inherently uncertain. Management has
discussed the development and selection of our critical accounting policies with the audit committee of the
company's Board of Directors, and the audit committee has reviewed the disclosures that follow.

In each of the following areas, our judgments, estimates, and assumptions are impacted by conditions that
change over time. As a result, in the future there could be changes in our assets and liabilities, increases or
decreases in our expenses, and additional losses or gains that are material to our financial condition and results
of operations.

Goodwill

Goodwill, which is included in the segment assets of both Industrial Controls and Aircraft Engine
Systems, totaled $131.0 million at September 30, 2005, representing 19% of total assets. We test goodwill for
impairment on an annual basis and more often if circumstances require. Impairment tests performed during
the three years ended September 30, 2005, have not resulted in any impairment losses.

Estimates and assumptions, the most important of which are used to estimate the fair value of reporting
units within the company, impact the results of our goodwill impairment tests. To estimate the fair value of
reporting units, we estimate future cash flows, discount rates, and transaction multiples that we believe a
marketplace participant would use in an arm's length transaction.

To assess the effect on our annual impairment tests in 2005 if different assumptions had been used, we
separately measured the effects of a hypothetical 20% reduction in estimated cash flows, a 20% increase in the
discount rates used, and a 20% reduction in the transaction multiples used. While each of these changes would
have reduced the estimated fair value of reporting units within the company, none of them individually would
have resulted in an impairment loss in 2005.

Other long-lived assets

As discussed here, our other long-lived assets consist of property, plant, and equipment, and other
intangibles, which are included primarily in the segment assets of both Industrial Controls and Aircraft Engine
Systems. Long-lived assets totaled $193.4 million at September 30, 2005, and represented 27% of total assets.
We depreciate or amortize long-lived assets over their estimated useful lives. Depreciation expense and
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amortization expense associated with these assets totaled $32.5 million in 2005, $32.8 million in 2004, and
$32.4 million in 2003. We also test long-lived assets for recoverability whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying values may not be recoverable.

The selection of useful lives for depreciation and amortization purposes requires judgment. If we had
increased the remaining useful life of all assets being depreciated and amortized by one year, depreciation and
amortization expense would have decreased, and the year-end carrying value of long-lived assets would have
increased, by approximately $4.1 million in 2005. Similarly, if we had decreased the remaining useful lives by
one year, depreciation and amortization expense would have increased, and the year-end carrying value of
long-lived assets would have decreased, by approximately $5.5 million in 2005. (The results of this sensitivity
analysis ignore the impact of individual assets that might have become fully depreciated or amortized during
2005 had these hypothetical changes been made.)

The carrying value of a long-lived asset, or related group of assets, is reduced to its fair value whenever
estimates of future cash flows are insufficient to indicate the carrying value is recoverable. We form judgments
as to whether recoverability should be assessed, we estimate future cash flows and, if necessary, we estimate
fair value. Fair value estimates are most often based on estimated future cash flows and assumed discount
rates.

Deferred income tax asset valuation allowances

Valuation allowances for deferred income tax assets totaled $17.8 million at September 30, 2005,
representing 25% of deferred income tax assets before the allowances. The net changes in the valuation
allowances decreased income tax expense by $0.9 million in 2005 and increased income tax expense by
$2.1 million in 2004.

We establish valuation allowances to reflect the estimated amount of deferred tax assets that might not
be realized. Both positive and negative evidence are considered in forming our judgment as to whether a
valuation allowance is appropriate. Our current valuation allowances are primarily for deferred tax assets
associated with foreign net operating loss carryforwards. Remaining deferred tax assets are expected to be
realized through future earnings. If we had made different judgments regarding the realizability of deferred
tax assets associated with foreign net operating loss carryforwards, our valuation allowance and income tax
expense would have decreased. If we had made different judgments regarding the realizability of other
deferred tax assets, our valuation allowance and income tax expense would have increased.

Retirement pension and healthcare benefits

The cost of retirement pension and healthcare benefits is recognized over employee service periods using
an actuarial-based attribution approach. Our net accrued benefit for these retirement benefits totaled
$61.7 million at September 30, 2005, which represented 23% of total liabilities and consisted of the following
(in millions):

Pension Healthcare

Benefit obligation ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 76 $ 57

Fair value of plan assets ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (53) Ì

Unrecognized net lossesÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (16) (17)

Unamortized prior service cost ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì 10

Other items affecting the liability ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 5 Ì
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The net periodic benefit cost associated with these liabilities totaled $0.7 million in 2005, which consisted
of the following (in millions):

Pension Healthcare

Service costÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 2 $ 2

Interest cost ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 3 4

Expected return on plan assets ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (3) Ì

Recognized lossesÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 1 1

Recognized prior service cost ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì (1)

Curtailment gainÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì (8)

To determine our net accrued benefit and net periodic benefit cost, we form judgments about the best
estimate for each assumption used in the actuarial computation. The most important assumptions that affect
the computations are the discount rate, the expected long-term rate of return on plan assets, and the
healthcare cost trend rate.

Our discount rate assumption is intended to reflect the rate at which the retirement benefits could be
effectively settled based upon the assumed timing of the benefit payments. In the United States, we use the
blended 40/60 Moody's Baa/Aaa index, the Citigroup Pension Liability Index, and the 30-year U.S. treasury
rate as benchmarks. In the United Kingdom, we use the AA corporate bond index (applicable for bonds over
15 years) and government bond yields (for bonds over 15 years) to determine a blended rate to use as the
benchmark. In Japan, we use AA-rated corporate bond yields (for bonds of 15 years) as the benchmark. Our
assumed rates do not differ significantly from any of these benchmarks.

We assumed weighted-average discount rates of 4.42% to determine our retirement pension benefit
obligation at September 30, 2005, and 4.79% to determine the related service and interest costs in 2005. A
1.00% increase in these discount rates would have decreased the benefit obligation at the end of 2005 by
$12.0 million and increased the total of service and interest costs by $1.0 million in 2005. Likewise, a 1.00%
decrease in these discount rates would have increased the benefit obligation by $14.7 million and decreased
the total of service and interest costs by $1.2 million in 2005.

We assumed weighted-average discount rates of 5.28% to determine our retirement healthcare benefit
obligation at September 30, 2005, and 5.79% to determine the related service and interest costs in 2005. A
1.00% increase in these discount rates would have decreased the benefit obligation at the end of 2005 by
$5.9 million and increased the total of service and interest costs by $0.1 million in 2005. Likewise, a 1.00%
decrease in these discount rates would have increased the benefit obligation by $7.2 million and decreased the
total of service and interest costs by $0.2 million in 2005.

The expected long-term rate of return on plan assets was based on our current asset allocations and the
historical long-term performance for each asset class, as adjusted for existing market conditions. Information
regarding our asset allocations is included in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in ""Item 8 Ì
Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.'' We assumed a weighted-average expected long-term rate of
return on pension plan assets of 6.62% to determine our net periodic benefit cost in 2005. A 1.00% increase in
the expected return would have decreased the net periodic benefit cost by $0.5 million in 2005. Likewise, a
1.00% decrease in the expected return would have increased the net periodic benefit cost by $0.5 million in
2005.

We assumed net healthcare cost trend rates of 10.00% in 2006, decreasing gradually to 5.00% in 2011,
and remaining at 5.00% thereafter. A 1.00% increase in assumed healthcare cost trend rates would have
increased the benefit obligation at the end of 2005 by $6.6 million and the total of the service and interest costs
by $0.8 million in 2005. Likewise, a 1.00% decrease in the assumed healthcare cost trend rates would have
decreased the benefit obligation by $5.6 million and the total of service and interest costs by $0.6 million in
2005.

Among the items affecting our net accrued retirement pension benefits were additional minimum pension
liabilities recognized in 2005, which primarily resulted from a decline in the average discount rate from 4.79%
to 4.42%. As a result, the net accrued benefit was increased by $2.7 million and, on a pretax basis,
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accumulated other comprehensive earnings (a component of equity) was reduced by a similar amount. Based
on future plan asset performance and interest rates, additional adjustments to our net accrued benefit and
equity may be required.

MARKET RISKS

Our long-term debt is sensitive to changes in interest rates. We monitor trends in interest rates as a basis
for determining whether to enter into fixed rate or variable rate debt agreements, the duration of such
agreements, and whether to use hedging strategies. Our primary objective is to minimize our long-term costs
of borrowing. At September 30, 2005, our long-term debt consisted of fixed rate agreements. As measured at
September 30, 2005, a hypothetical 1% immediate increase in interest rates would reduce the fair value of our
long-term debt by approximately $2.5 million. At September 30, 2004, we had outstanding interest rate swap
agreements to effectively offset our exposure to changes in the fair value of a portion of our long-term debt. As
measured at September 30, 2004, a hypothetical 1% immediate increase in interest rates would have reduced
the combined fair value of our long-term debt and interest rate swap agreements by approximately $1.8 million
and adversely affected our 2005 net earnings and cash flows by approximately $0.3 million.

Assets, liabilities, and commitments that are to be settled in cash and are denominated in foreign
currencies for transaction purposes are sensitive to changes in currency exchange rates. We monitor trends in
foreign currency exchange rates and our exposure to changes in those rates as a basis for determining whether
to use hedging strategies. Our primary exposures are to the European Monetary Union euro and the Japanese
yen. We do not have any derivative instruments associated with foreign currency exchange rates. A
hypothetical 10% immediate increase in the value of the United States dollar relative to all other currencies,
when applied to September 30, 2005, balances, would adversely affect our 2006 net earnings and cash flows by
approximately $2.2 million. Last year, a hypothetical 10% immediate increase in the value of the United
States dollar relative to all other currencies would have adversely affected our 2005 net earnings and cash
flows by $0.7 million.

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Sales
In Thousands for the Year Ended September 30, 2005 2004 2003

External net sales:

Industrial Controls ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $536,937 $439,801 $332,755

Aircraft Engine Systems ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 290,789 270,004 253,927

Consolidated net sales ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $827,726 $709,805 $586,682

2005 Compared to 2004

Consolidated net sales increased 17% in 2005 compared to 2004, attributable to the following
(in millions):

Industrial Controls' sales volume changesÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $89

Aircraft Engine Systems' sales volume changesÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 19

Foreign currency translation rate changesÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 7

Price changes ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 3

Industrial Controls' sales volume changes: Industrial Controls benefited from a broad industrial
recovery that included the segment's power generation and transportation markets. We experienced higher
demand for large gas turbine fuel nozzles Ì the area affected most by the severe market declines of 2002 and
2003 Ì driven in part by power generation improvement projects in Asia and Eastern Europe. We also won a
number of new programs, including one for an alternative fuel engine used in Asia, which resulted in increased
sales. Use of alternative fuels has increased in Asia in recent years due to more stringent environmental
emission standards and the availability of natural gas as a fuel source in the region.

Aircraft Engine Systems' sales volume changes: Aircraft Engine Systems' improvement reflects the
effects of favorable trends in commercial aviation. We experienced modest growth in commercial OEM sales,
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as Boeing and Airbus ramped up their production levels for narrow and wide body aircraft. We also have seen
a continuation of the trend toward higher revenue passenger miles experienced by commercial airlines, which
has driven greater utilization of aircraft and higher aftermarket sales for us. We estimate approximately half of
Aircraft Engine Systems' sales were aftermarket sales in 2005 and 2004.

2004 Compared to 2003

Consolidated net sales increased 21% in 2004 compared to 2003, attributable to the following (in
millions):

Industrial Controls' sales volume changesÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $53

Incremental sales from business acquisitions ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 41

Foreign currency translation rate changesÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 16

Aircraft Engine Systems' sales volume changesÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 14

Price changes ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (1)

Industrial Controls' sales volume changes: Incremental sales associated with the manufacture of diesel
fuel injectors and pumps for one of our major customers accounted for approximately $42 million of the
increase in Industrial Controls' sales volume. We believe our acquisition of the Bryce diesel fuel injection
business of Delphi Automotive Systems in June 2001 provided us with the capabilities that ultimately allowed
us to pursue this opportunity. Sales of the injectors and pumps began in late 2003. The remaining $11 million
increase in Industrial Controls' sales volume, as measured before the effects of business acquisitions, resulted
from increased demand across many product lines in Asia and North America.

Incremental sales from business acquisitions: We completed two acquisitions in 2003 that, on an
incremental basis, increased sales by approximately $41 million in 2004 over 2003. Both acquisitions were
accounted for in Industrial Controls.

Our acquisitions in 2003 expanded our position in the small, high-speed diesel engine market. Synchro-
Start Products, Inc., acquired in May 2003, designed and manufactured actuators, solenoids, and controls for
industrial engines and equipment. Barber-Colman Dyna Products, acquired in August 2003, manufactured
and distributed controls for off-highway diesel and gas engines and mobile industrial equipment.

We also completed an acquisition of Adrenaline Research, Inc. in June 2004 to enhance our capabilities
in advanced combustion electronics. We immediately integrated this acquisition into existing operations and
did not separately measure the effect on sales, although we considered the effect insignificant.

Aircraft Engine Systems' sales volume changes: External net sales of Aircraft Engine Systems increased
6% in 2004 from 2003. We attribute most of the increase to higher revenue passenger miles experienced by
airlines, which has driven greater utilization of aircraft and higher aftermarket sales for us. Even at the
increased levels, however, we believe commercial aircraft production and commercial airline traffic were both
low in 2004 relative to recent periods Ì in particular, periods immediately preceding the events of September
2001. We estimate approximately half of Aircraft Engine Systems' sales were aftermarket sales in 2004 and
2003.

Costs and Expenses
In Thousands for the Year Ended September 30, 2005 2004 2003

Cost of goods soldÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $623,680 $542,240 $450,676

Selling, general, and administrative expenses ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 79,858 70,949 67,310

Research and development costsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 49,996 40,057 41,565

All other expense items ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 14,390 12,942 13,536

Curtailment gain ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (7,825) Ì Ì

Interest and other income ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (11,481) (5,675) (6,344)

Consolidated costs and expenses ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $748,618 $660,513 $566,743
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2005 Compared to 2004

Cost of goods sold increased 15% in 2005 as compared to 2004, attributable to the following (in millions):

Increase in net sales ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 90

Lower workforce management costs ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (11)

Higher performance-based variable compensation ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 6

Changes in segment sales mix ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 3

Other factors, netÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (7)

The effect of increased sales on cost of goods sold was measured as if these costs increased in direct
proportion to the 17% sales increase. However, there are many factors that affected cost of goods sold other
than volume, the most important of which are discussed in the paragraphs that follow.

We incurred cost of goods sold related to workforce management actions that totaled $1.7 million in 2005
and $12.4 million in 2004, netting to a decrease of $10.7 million. These costs were largely attributable to
termination benefits for members in direct and indirect manufacturing functions.

Variable compensation paid to members in direct and indirect manufacturing functions was higher in
2005 than in 2004. Each year, a portion of our members' compensation will vary depending on performance-
based factors, including consolidated financial results.

The percent increase in Industrial Controls sales (22%) was greater than the percent increase in Aircraft
Engine Systems sales (8%). However, Industrial Controls' average margins are not as high as those of Aircraft
Engine Systems. As a result, the resulting change in segment sales mix increased cost of goods sold.

Among the other factors affecting cost of goods sold were the favorable operating leverage effect of the
increased sales versus the fixed cost components of cost of goods sold, sales mix within each segment, and
changes in material costs.

Selling, general, and administrative expenses increased 13% in 2005 as compared to 2004, attributable to
the following (in millions):

Higher performance-based variable compensation ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $3

Internal control assessment and audit expenses ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 2

Other factors, netÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 4

Variable compensation paid to members in selling and administrative functions was higher in 2005 than
in 2004, driven by performance-based factors, including consolidated financial results.

In 2005, we incurred significant expense in assessing our internal control over financial reporting, as
required by the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. We also incurred higher external audit fees associated with the
expanded audit scope required by the Act. Our report on the results of our assessment is included in
""Item 9A Ì Controls and Procedures.'' The report issued by our independent registered public accounting
firm, PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, is included in ""Item 8 Ì Financial Statements and Supplementary
Data.''

Among the other factors affecting selling, general, and administrative expenses are normal variations in
legal and other professional services and gains and losses related to transactions denominated in foreign
currencies.

Research and development costs increased 25% in 2005 over 2004 attributable to the following (in
millions):

Industrial Controls' development activities ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $4

Aircraft Engine Systems' development activities ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 3

Higher performance-based variable compensation ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 3

We increased development activities in Industrial Controls, most notably in combustion sensing
technologies and in product development for the turbine auxiliary market. Turbine auxiliary applications offer
multiple opportunities to leverage our existing hydraulic and electric actuation and valve technologies for off-
engine applications. We also work closely with our customers early in their own development and design
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stages, helping them by developing components and integrated systems that allow them to meet emissions
requirements, increase fuel efficiency, and lower their costs.

Aircraft Engine Systems' development activities also increased, driven by new aircraft gas turbine
programs for both commercial and military aircraft. Most significantly, we are developing components and an
integrated fuel system for the new GEnx turbofan engine for the Boeing 787, Airbus A350, and Boeing 747
Advanced. We are also developing components for the GE Rolls-Royce F136 engine that is one of two
propulsion choices to power Lockheed's Joint Strike Fighter aircraft, and for the T700-GE-701D engine that
will be used to upgrade the Sikorsky Black Hawk and Boeing Apache helicopters, among others.

Variable compensation paid to members that performed research and development activities was higher
in 2005 than in 2004, driven by performance-based factors, including consolidated financial results.

Curtailment gain relates to an amount recognized in 2005 for the immediate effects of amendments to
one of our retirement healthcare benefit plans. The amendment eliminated retirement healthcare benefits for
members that will not attain age 55 and 10 years of service by January 1, 2006. In addition to the immediate
recognition of a curtailment gain, our future net periodic benefit costs will be reduced from amounts that
would have been recognized prior to the amendments. In the period immediately following the amendment,
we expect the reduction in net periodic benefit costs to be approximately $5.5 million annually.

Interest and other income increased in 2005 over 2004 primarily as a result of the sale of rights to our
aircraft propeller synchronizer products to an unrelated third party, which resulted in a pre-tax gain of
$3.8 million. In addition, our interest income increased in 2005 over 2004 as a result of higher cash balances.

Sales associated with the aircraft propeller synchronizer products totaled approximately $2 million
annually at the time we sold rights to the products to a third party.

2004 Compared to 2003

Cost of goods sold increased 20% in 2004 as compared to 2003, attributable to the following (in millions):

Increase in net sales ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 95

Cost effects associated primarily with the lower ratio of fixed costs to variable costsÏÏÏÏÏÏ (15)

Changes in segment sales mix ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 4

Higher performance-based variable compensation ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 6

Other factors, netÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 2

Cost of goods sold would have increased $95 million in 2004 over 2003 had the increase been proportional
to the 21% increase in net sales. However, cost of goods sold includes both variable and fixed cost components.
The most significant reason cost of goods sold did not increase by $95 million was due to the operating
leverage effect of the increased sales versus fixed costs.

The percent increase in Industrial Controls' sales was greater than the percent increase in Aircraft Engine
Systems' sales. However, Industrial Controls' average margins are not as high as those of Aircraft Engine
Systems. As a result, the relative change in the sales mix from one segment to the other increased our cost of
goods sold by approximately $4 million in 2004 as compared to 2003.

Among other factors affecting cost of goods sold were workforce management costs totaling $12.4 million
in 2004 and workforce management costs and related facility consolidation costs totaling $10.1 million in
2003.

Selling, general, and administrative expenses increased 5% in 2004 as compared to 2003, attributable to
the following (in millions):

Incremental expenses of businesses acquired ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 4

Higher performance-based variable compensation ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 4

Other factors, netÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (4)

Among the other factors affecting selling, general, and administrative expenses were workforce manage-
ment costs totaling $0.5 million in 2004 and $1.8 million in 2003.
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Research and development costs decreased 4% in 2004 from 2003 due to normal variations in the timing of
project expenditures.

Workforce Management Actions
In Thousands for the Year Ended September 30, 2005 2004 2003

Member termination benefits:

Industrial Controls ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 2,144 $12,151 $ 5,092

Aircraft Engine Systems ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì Ì 3,956

NonsegmentÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì Ì 343

2,144 12,151 9,391

Contractual pension termination benefits Ì Industrial Controls ÏÏ Ì 1,800 Ì

Related costs of facility consolidation Ì Aircraft Engine Systems 1,770 Ì 2,560

Member termination benefits adjustments Ì Industrial Controls (2,204) (1,083) Ì

Total costs of workforce management actions ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 1,710 $12,868 $11,951

2005 Actions

The expenses in 2005 are directly related to the actions of 2004, which are discussed more fully in the
section that follows.

2004 Actions

The actions in 2004 are primarily related to the consolidation of manufacturing operations in The
Netherlands and United Kingdom with existing operations in the United States and Germany. The actions
also involve the consolidation of a small manufacturing operation in Japan with an existing operation in China
and sales force reductions in The Netherlands. These actions are being taken to streamline the organization by
eliminating redundant manufacturing operations and to adjust the sales force in response to recent market
shifts from Europe to Asia and North America. In total, approximately 250 positions will be eliminated from
the three locations.

The total cost for the 2004 actions is estimated to be approximately $16.0 million, of which $13.8 million
was recognized in 2004 and $1.7 million was recognized in 2005.

The termination benefits that were expensed in 2004 are related to ongoing termination benefit plans that
we provide to our members and reflect expense for member service through September 30, 2004. The
contractual pension termination benefits in 2004 are related to provisions of one of our retirement pension
benefit plans that provide for early retirement benefits for certain plan participants in the event of a workforce
management action. We also reduced accrued member termination benefits from the 2003 actions by
$0.7 million in 2004 as a direct result of decisions to discontinue the remaining actions from the previous year
given the newly-formed consolidation plans.

The 2005 costs were for termination benefits that were earned by members in 2005, for other costs
primarily associated with moving equipment and inventory to other locations, and for adjustments of amounts
previously accrued for these actions. The accrual adjustments were made as a result of changes in estimates
for termination benefits payable because of voluntary member resignations, the transfer of members to a third-
party distributor, and more members electing early retirement options at a lower cost.

The remaining estimated cost of $0.5 million is for termination benefits that will be earned by members
over their remaining service period and for other costs primarily associated with moving equipment and
inventory to other locations. We expect to expense the $0.5 million in 2006.

Our cash expenses for the 2004 actions are expected to total $14.2 million, and the cash expenses have
been or will be paid from available cash balances in 2005 and 2006 without the need for additional borrowings.
The contractual pension termination benefits are non-cash expenses.

Once fully implemented, annual savings are expected to range from $9.0 million to $11.0 million as
compared to amounts that would have been incurred prior to the actions. These savings are primarily related
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to reduced personnel costs, although we anticipate some savings in travel and other costs due to the reduced
headcount. Of the total savings, approximately 90% is expected to affect cost of goods sold and 10% selling,
general, and administrative expenses. Savings will begin to be realized in the first quarter of 2006, increasing
gradually through the end of the second quarter of 2006 when we expect to begin realizing the full savings
level.

We currently plan to continue to use the facilities and equipment located in The Netherlands, United
Kingdom, and Japan after the actions are completed. We own all three facilities and each of them will have
ongoing sales and service activities. In addition, the facility in the United Kingdom remains a key development
site for diesel fuel injection products. We either have moved, or expect to move, the manufacturing equipment
used by the three locations to other facilities.

2003 Actions

Industrial Controls' actions in 2003 were made to align staffing levels with expected demand and involved
plans to eliminate 172 positions in various manufacturing, selling, and administrative functions worldwide.
Payments associated with these actions totaled $3.1 million in 2003 and $1.1 million in 2004. In addition, the
ending accrual for 2003 was reduced in 2004 by $1.1 million. We attributed $0.4 million of the accrual
reduction to increased production levels and the decision to retain certain members to meet the increased
demand. The remaining accrual adjustment of $0.7 million was related to members of the European
operations affected by the 2004 actions and reflects the decision to discontinue the remaining 2003 actions
given the newly-formed consolidation plans.

Aircraft Engine Systems' actions in 2003 were primarily associated with the consolidation of our
servovalve operations into our Rockford, Illinois manufacturing facility to achieve production cost efficiencies.
In total, 165 positions were eliminated, predominately involving direct and indirect manufacturing positions in
Buffalo, New York. Payments associated with these actions totaled $3.9 million in 2003 and $0.1 million in
2004. Other costs directly associated with the consolidation of our servovalve operations totaled $2.6 million
and were expensed and paid in 2003.

The benefits of the 2003 actions have been reflected in our 2004 results.

Earnings
In Thousands for the Year Ended September 30, 2005 2004 2003

Segment earnings (loss):

Industrial Controls ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 28,821 $ 6,437 $(11,588)

Aircraft Engine Systems ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 64,052 59,192 47,615

Total segment earningsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 92,873 65,629 36,027

Nonsegment expensesÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (17,935) (12,100) (12,323)

Curtailment gain ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 7,825 Ì Ì

Interest expense and income ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (3,655) (4,237) (3,765)

Consolidated earnings before income taxes ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 79,108 49,292 19,939

Income taxes ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 23,137 17,910 7,593

Consolidated net earnings ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 55,971 $ 31,382 $ 12,346

2005 Compared to 2004

Industrial Controls' segment earnings were $29 million in 2005 compared to $6 million in 2004. The
change was attributable to the following (in millions):

Increase in sales volume ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $18

Workforce management actions, net ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 11

Higher performance-based variable compensation ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (6)

Higher research and development costs ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (4)

Other factors, netÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 3
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The effect of the increase in sales volume on Industrial Controls' segment earnings was measured as if
gross margins (external net sales less external cost of goods sold) had increased in direct proportion to the
sales volume increase without other changes. However, there are many factors that affected segment earnings
other than volume, the most important of which are discussed in the paragraphs that follow.

Industrial Controls incurred costs related to workforce management actions that totaled $1.7 million in
2005 and $12.9 million in 2004, netting to a decrease of $11.2 million.

Variable compensation paid to Industrial Controls' members was higher in 2005 than in 2004, driven by
performance-based factors, including consolidated financial results.

Industrial Controls' research and development cost increases were discussed previously as part of costs
and expenses.

Among other factors affecting the comparison of Industrial Controls' segment earnings between 2005 and
2004 were the favorable operating leverage effect of the increased sales versus the fixed cost components of
cost of goods sold and other fixed expenses, sales mix, changes in material costs, normal variations in legal
services, and losses related to transactions denominated in foreign currencies.

Aircraft Engine Systems' segment earnings increased 8% in 2005 as compared to 2004, attributable to the
following (in millions):

Increase in sales volume ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 6

Gain on sale of product rights ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 4

Higher performance-based variable compensation ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (4)

Higher research and development costs ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (3)

Other factors, netÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 2

The effect of the increase in sales volume on Aircraft Engine Systems' segment earnings was measured as
if gross margins had increased in direct proportion to the sales volume increase without other changes.
However, there are many factors that affected segment earnings other than volume, the most important of
which are discussed in the paragraphs that follow.

Aircraft Engine Systems sold the rights to its propeller synchronizer products to an unrelated third party
in 2005, which resulted in a pre-tax gain of $3.8 million.

Variable compensation paid to Aircraft Engine Systems' members was higher in 2005 than in 2004,
driven by performance-based factors, including consolidated financial results.

Aircraft Engine Systems' research and development cost increases were discussed previously as part of
costs and expenses.

Among other factors affecting the comparison of Aircraft Engine Systems' segment earnings between
2005 and 2004 were the favorable operating leverage effect of the increased sales versus the fixed cost
components of cost of goods sold and other fixed expenses.

Nonsegment expenses increased 48% in 2005 as compared to 2004, attributable to the following (in
millions):

Internal control assessment and audit expenses ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $2

Higher performance based variable compensation ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 2

Other factors, netÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 2

In 2005, we incurred significant expense in assessing our internal control over financial reporting, as
required by the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. We also incurred higher external audit fees associated with the
expanded audit scope required by the Act. Our report on the results of our assessment is included in
""Item 9A Ì Controls and Procedures.'' The report issued by our independent registered public accounting
firm, PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, is included in ""Item 8 Ì Financial Statements and Supplementary
Data.''

Variable compensation paid to corporate members was higher in 2005 than in 2004, driven by
performance-based factors, including consolidated financial results.
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Among the other factors affecting nonsegment expenses are normal variations in legal and other
professional services.

Curtailment gain was discussed previously as part of costs and expenses.

Income taxes were provided at an effective rate on earnings before income taxes of 29.2% in 2005
compared to 36.3% in 2004. The change in the effective tax rate was attributable to the following (as a percent
of earnings before income taxes):

Change in estimates of taxes in 2005 for previous periodsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (2.5)%

Change in effect of foreign losses on income taxes in 2005 as compared to 2004 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (2.0)%

Research credit in 2005 as compared to 2004ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (1.7)%

Other changes, net ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (0.9)%

Income taxes for 2005 were affected by changes in estimates of income taxes for previous years, which
resulted from increases in the amounts of certain credits claimed and changes in the amounts of certain
deductions taken. These changes reduced reported income taxes by $1.9 million, or 2.5% of earnings before
income taxes.

The effects of foreign losses on income taxes increased our effective tax rate by 0.1% in 2005 compared to
2.1% in 2004, a change of 2.0%. Foreign losses affect income taxes in situations in which we are unable to use
the losses to offset earnings in particular tax jurisdictions, resulting in net operating loss carryfowards. In both
years, we recorded a valuation allowance to reflect the estimated amount of deferred tax assets that may not be
realized due to foreign net operating loss carryforwards.

The federal tax credit that we expect to take for 2005 for increasing research activities reduced our
effective tax rate by 1.7% compared to 2004. The credit is based on the level of current year research costs
relative to gross receipts and research costs in certain prior periods.

Among the other changes in our effective tax rate were the effects of changes in the relative mix of
earnings by tax jurisdiction, which affects the comparison of foreign and state income tax rates relative to the
United States federal statutory rate.

2004 Compared to 2003

Industrial Controls' segment earnings were $6.4 million in 2004 compared to a segment loss of
$11.6 million in 2003. The change was attributable to the following (in millions):

Increase in net sales volumes ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $20

Cost effects associated primarily with the lower ratio of fixed costs to variable costsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 8

Workforce management actions, net ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (8)

Incremental expenses of businesses acquired ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (6)

Lower research and development costs ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 5

Higher performance-based variable compensation ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (4)

Other factors, netÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 3

Industrial Controls' segment earnings would have increased by approximately $20 million in 2004 over
2003 if the change in gross margin had been proportional to the 32% increase in net sales. However, cost of
goods sold includes both variable and fixed cost components and other expenses affecting segment earnings
are relatively fixed. As a result, segment earnings benefited from the operating leverage effect of the increased
sales versus fixed costs.

Industrial Controls' workforce management actions resulted in the recognition of $12.9 million of expense
in 2004 and $5.1 million in 2003, netting to a $7.8 million increase in 2004 over 2003.

Our business acquisitions in 2003 and 2004 resulted in increases in selling, general, and administrative
expenses of approximately $3.7 million and in amortization expense of approximately $2.0 million in 2004 over
2003.
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Industrial Controls' research and development costs decreased in 2004 from 2003 due to variations in the
timing of project expenditures, particularly for combustion control technologies that had relatively high
expenditure levels in 2003.

Variable compensation was primarily driven by consolidated results in 2004 and 2003.

Among the other factors affecting the comparison of Industrial Controls' segment earnings between 2004
and 2003 were the following items recognized in 2003: $1.1 million for the write-off of certain advance license
fees, $1.0 million for lease termination expenses, and $0.7 million of expense for the transfer of an overseas
pension to a different plan.

Aircraft Engine Systems' segment earnings increased 24% in 2004 as compared to 2003, attributable to
the following (in millions):

Increase in net sales volumes ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 5

Cost effects associated primarily with the lower ratio of fixed costs to variable costsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 5

Workforce management actions, net ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 6

Higher performance-based variable compensation ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (4)

Aircraft Engine Systems' segment earnings would have increased by approximately $4.7 million in 2004
over 2003 if the change in gross margin had been proportional to the 6% increase in net sales. However, cost of
goods sold includes both variable and fixed cost components and other expenses affecting segment earnings
are relatively fixed. As a result, segment earnings benefited from the operating leverage effect of the increased
sales versus fixed costs.

Aircraft Engine Systems' workforce management actions resulted in the recognition of $6.5 million of
expense in 2003. There were no actions or expense in 2004.

Variable compensation was primarily driven by consolidated results in 2004 and 2003.

Income taxes were provided at an effective rate on earnings before income taxes of 36.3% in 2004
compared to 38.1% in 2003. The effective rate change is primarily due to changes in the distribution of taxable
earnings and losses by country.

Outlook

Sales and earnings are expected to improve in 2006. We are currently targeting sales growth in the range
of 3% to 6%. As a result of this sales increase and improvements in Industrial Controls' segment earnings, we
expect 2006 net earnings will be in the range of $5.00 to $5.25 per diluted share.

Industrial Controls' earnings are expected to improve to approximately 10% of sales. Among other
factors, the improvement in Industrial Controls' earnings includes savings resulting from the consolidation of
our European operations, which were discussed previously in the section on workforce management actions.

In relation to its sales, Aircraft Engine Systems' earnings in 2006 are expected to remain near the levels
achieved in the last two years.

Our effective income tax rate is expected to increase in 2006 from 2005. There were several factors that
reduced our 2005 effective tax rate that we do not expect will recur in 2006. We currently believe our 2006
effective tax rate will be nearer to our 2004 rate, which was 36.3%.

Our net earnings expectation for 2006 includes expense for stock compensation, which will be reflected in
our consolidated income statements for the first time in 2006. Had we recognized expense for stock
compensation in 2005, net earnings for 2005 would have decreased by $0.11 per diluted share. A discussion of
the recent accounting pronouncement underlying this accounting change is included in the Notes to the
Consolidated Financial Statements in ""Item 8 Ì Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.''
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FINANCIAL CONDITION

Assets
In Thousands at September 30, 2005 2004

Industrial Controls ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $370,220 $364,584
Aircraft Engine Systems ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 208,140 205,580
Nonsegment assetsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 127,106 84,130

Consolidated total assets ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $705,466 $654,294

Industrial Controls' segment assets at September 30, 2005, increased over the prior year, driven by higher
levels of business activity in 2005 as compared to 2004, which resulted in higher accounts receivable and
inventories. These increases were partially offset by decreases in Industrial Controls' net property, plant, and
equipment and intangibles, as depreciation and amortization exceeded additions in 2005.

Aircraft Engine Systems' segment assets at September 30, 2005, increased over the prior year, primarily
as a result of higher levels of business activity in 2005 and 2004, which resulted in higher accounts receivable
and inventories.

Nonsegment assets at September 30, 2005, increased over the prior year primarily because of increases in
cash and cash equivalents. Net cash flows provided by operating activities exceeded net cash flows used in
investing and financing activities in 2005.

Other Balance Sheet Measures
In Thousands at September 30, 2005 2004

Working capital ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $241,066 $197,524
Long-term debt, less current portion ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 72,942 88,452
Other liabilitiesÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 71,548 68,709
Commitments and contingencies
Shareholders' equityÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 432,469 385,861

Working capital (total current assets less total current liabilities) at September 30, 2005, increased over
the prior year primarily as a result of increases in cash and cash equivalents. Our cash position at
September 30, 2005, reflects the results of cash flows during the year and the fact that most of our debt is
represented by senior notes payable in 2006 through 2012.

Long-term debt, less current portion at September 30, 2005, decreased from the prior year to reflect the
amount of long-term debt that is due in 2006. Required future payments for long-term debt principal,
operating lease commitments, and purchase obligations at September 30, 2005, were as follows:

In Thousands for the Year(s) Ended September 30, 2006 2007/2008 2009/2010 Thereafter

Long-term debt ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $14,426 $28,852 $21,428 $21,429
Operating leases ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 3,600 5,000 3,000 2,000
Purchase obligations ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 76,357 1,070 Ì Ì

We currently have a revolving line of credit facility with a syndicate of U.S. banks totaling $100 million,
with an option to increase the amount of the line to $175 million if we choose. The line of credit facility
expires on March 11, 2010. In addition, we have other line of credit facilities, which totaled $26.4 million at
September 30, 2005, that are generally reviewed annually for renewal. The total amount of borrowing under all
facilities was $8.4 million at September 30, 2005. The weighted-average interest rate for outstanding
borrowings under these line of credit facilities was 2.3% at September 30, 2005.

Provisions of debt agreements include covenants customary to such agreements that require us to
maintain specified minimum or maximum financial measures and place limitations on various investing and
financing activities. The agreements also permit the lenders to accelerate repayment requirements in the event
of a material adverse event. Our most restrictive covenants require us to maintain a minimum consolidated net
worth, a maximum consolidated debt to consolidated operating cash flow, and a maximum consolidated debt
to EBITDA, as defined in the agreements. We were in compliance with all covenants at September 30, 2005.
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We enter into purchase obligations with suppliers in the normal course of business, on a short-term basis.

Commitments and contingencies at September 30, 2005, include various matters arising from the normal
course of business. We are currently involved in pending or threatened litigation or other legal proceedings
regarding employment, product liability, and contractual matters. We accrued for individual matters that we
believe are likely to result in a loss when ultimately resolved using estimates of the most likely amount of loss.
There are also individual matters that we believe the likelihood of a loss when ultimately resolved is less than
likely but more than remote, which were not accrued. While it is possible that there could be additional losses
that have not been accrued, we currently believe the possible additional loss in the event of an unfavorable
resolution of each matter is less than $5 million in the aggregate.

We file income tax returns in various jurisdictions worldwide, which are subject to audit. We have
accrued for our estimate of the most likely amount of expense that we believe will result from income tax audit
adjustments.

We do not recognize contingencies that might result in a gain until such contingencies are resolved and
the related amounts are realized.

In the event of a change in control of the company, we may be required to pay termination benefits to
certain executive officers.

Shareholders' equity at September 30, 2005, increased 12% over the prior year. Increases due to net
earnings, sales of treasury stock, and tax benefits applicable to stock options were partially offset by cash
dividend payments and purchases of treasury stock.

On January 26, 2005, the Board of Directors authorized the repurchase of up to $30 million of our
outstanding shares of common stock on the open market and private transactions over a three-year period. We
purchased $7.3 million of our common stock in 2005 under this authorization.

On September 28, 2005, the Board of Directors voted to recommend to shareholders at the January 25,
2006 annual meeting of shareholders a three-for-one split of the common stock of the company, and an
increase in the authorized shares. If the action is approved, each shareholder will receive two additional shares
for each share of common stock held as of the record date of the split. The effects of the stock split will not be
reflected in financial statements until shareholder approval is obtained.

Cash Flows
In Thousands for the Year Ended September 30, 2005 2004 2003

Net cash provided by operating activitiesÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 69,432 $ 85,215 $ 60,775

Net cash used in investing activitiesÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (22,909) (20,272) (75,701)

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (10,503) (39,895) 8,325

2005 Compared to 2004

Net cash flows provided by operating activities decreased 19% in 2005 from 2004. Both operating cash
receipts and disbursements increased in 2005 over 2004 due to higher sales volume. However, cash paid to
employees and suppliers increased at a greater rate than cash collected from customers, reflecting normal
variations in collection and payment patterns. In addition, income tax payments increased in 2005 over 2004,
resulting in an income tax receivable position at September 30, 2005, compared to a payable position at
September 30, 2004.

Net cash flows used in investing activities increased by $2.6 million in 2005 as compared to 2004. This
reflected an increase in capital expenditures of $7.9 million, which was partially offset by the effects of
changes in proceeds from the sale of property, plant, and equipment, and net payments associated with
business acquisitions that were made in 2004.

Net cash flows used for financing activities decreased by $29.5 million between 2005 and 2004, primarily
as a result of changes in borrowings activity. Net proceeds from borrowings totaled $2.0 million in 2005
compared to net payments of borrowings of $30.4 million in 2004. In addition, both proceeds from the sale of
treasury stock, which were related to the exercise of stock options, and purchases of treasury stock were higher
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in 2005 than in 2004. The effect of these treasury stock transactions on cash flows resulted in net use of cash of
$0.6 million in 2005 and a net source of cash of $1.3 million in 2004. Our dividend payments also increased by
$1.0 million in 2005 over 2004 as a result of increases in our quarterly dividend rate.

Our 2005 treasury stock purchases were made in connection with a January 26, 2005, authorization by
the Board of Directors to repurchase up to $30 million of our common stock on the open market and private
transactions over a three-year period. The 2004 treasury stock purchases were made in connection with a
Board authorization that expired in November 2004.

2004 Compared to 2003

Net cash flows provided by operating activities increased 40% in 2004 over 2003. Both operating cash
receipts and disbursements increased in 2004 over 2003 due to higher sales volume. However, cash collected
from customers increased at a greater rate than cash paid to employees and suppliers, reflecting increased
earnings and normal variations in collection and payment patterns.

Net cash flows used in investing activities decreased by $55.4 million in 2004 as compared to 2003. This
change primarily resulted from Industrial Controls' business acquisitions, for which payments totaling
$2.3 million were made in 2004 compared to $57.7 million in 2003.

Net cash flows for financing activities changed by $48.2 million between 2003 and 2004. Our net
repayment of borrowings totaled $30.4 million in 2004 compared to increased net borrowings totaling
$27.5 million in 2003. The higher borrowings in 2003 were primarily related to the use of cash for business
acquisitions in 2003. In addition, we used $1.5 million of cash to acquire treasury stock in 2004, down from
$9.5 million in 2003. These stock purchases were made in connection with a November 20, 2002,
authorization by the Board of Directors to repurchase up to $20 million of our common stock from time to
time in open market and private transactions over the two years following the authorization. Dividends were
approximately the same in both years.

Outlook

Future cash flows from operations and available revolving lines of credit are expected to be adequate to
meet our cash requirements over the next twelve months.

Payments of our $75 million of senior notes are due over the 2006 Ó 2012 timeframe. Also, we have a
$100 million line of credit facility that includes an option to increase the amount of the line up to $175 million
that does not expire until March 11, 2010. Despite these factors, it is possible business acquisitions could be
made in the future that would require amendments to existing debt agreements and the need to obtain
additional financing.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

A discussion of recent accounting pronouncements is included in the Notes to the Consolidated Financial
Statements in ""Item 8 Ì Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.''

Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

Disclosures about market risk are included in ""Item 7 Ì Management's Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations.''
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Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

Consolidated Statements of Earnings WOODWARD

Year Ended September 30,

2005 2004 2003

(In thousands except per share amounts)

Net sales ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $827,726 $709,805 $586,682

Costs and expenses:

Cost of goods soldÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 623,680 542,240 450,676

Selling, general, and administrative expenses ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 79,858 70,949 67,310

Research and development costsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 49,996 40,057 41,565

Amortization of intangible assets ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 7,087 6,905 4,870

Curtailment gain ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (7,825) Ì Ì

Interest expenseÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 5,814 5,332 4,635

Interest income ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (2,159) (1,095) (870)

Other incomeÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (9,322) (4,580) (5,474)

Other expense ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 1,489 705 4,031

Total costs and expenses ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 748,618 660,513 566,743

Earnings before income taxes ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 79,108 49,292 19,939

Income taxes ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 23,137 17,910 7,593

Net earnings ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 55,971 $ 31,382 $ 12,346

Net earnings per share:

BasicÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 4.91 $ 2.78 $ 1.10

Diluted ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 4.78 2.71 1.08

Weighted-average number of shares outstanding:

BasicÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 11,400 11,286 11,246

Diluted ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 11,709 11,565 11,389

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Consolidated Balance Sheets WOODWARD

At September 30,

2005 2004

(In thousands except per
share amounts)

ASSETS
Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 84,597 $ 48,895
Accounts receivable, less allowance for losses of $1,965 for 2005 and $2,836 for

2004ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 107,403 99,277
Inventories ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 149,336 138,708
Income taxes receivable ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 5,330 Ì
Deferred income taxesÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 18,700 16,852
Other current assetsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 4,207 5,064

Total current assets ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 369,573 308,796

Property, plant, and equipment Ì net ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 114,787 117,310
Goodwill ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 131,035 131,542
Other intangibles Ì netÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 78,564 85,711
Deferred income taxesÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 2,310 4,318
Other assets ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 9,197 6,617

Total assets ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $705,466 $654,294

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY
Current liabilities:

Short-term borrowingsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 8,419 $ 5,833
Current portion of long-term debt ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 14,426 956
Accounts payable ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 37,015 35,207
Accrued liabilities ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 68,647 65,573
Income taxes payable ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì 3,703

Total current liabilities ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 128,507 111,272

Long-term debt, less current portion ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 72,942 88,452
Other liabilitiesÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 71,548 68,709
Commitments and contingencies

Shareholders' equity represented by:
Preferred stock, par value $.003 per share, authorized 10,000 shares, no shares

issuedÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì Ì
Common stock, par value $.00875 per share, authorized 50,000 shares, issued

12,160 shares ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 106 106
Additional paid-in capital ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 25,854 15,878
Accumulated other comprehensive earnings ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 10,904 12,038
Deferred compensation ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 5,402 4,461
Retained earningsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 425,568 381,458

467,834 413,941
Less: Treasury stock, at cost, 718 shares for 2005 and 814 shares for 2004 ÏÏÏÏÏÏ 29,963 23,619

Treasury stock held for deferred compensation, at cost, 138 shares for 2005
and 125 shares for 2004 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 5,402 4,461

Total shareholders' equity ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 432,469 385,861

Total liabilities and shareholders' equity ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $705,466 $654,294

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows WOODWARD

Year Ended September 30,

2005 2004 2003

(In thousands)

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net earnings ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 55,971 $ 31,382 $ 12,346

Adjustments to reconcile net earnings to net cash provided by
operating activities:
Depreciation and amortizationÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 31,538 32,761 32,418
Curtailment gain ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (7,825) Ì Ì
Contractual pension termination benefits ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì 1,800 Ì
Net loss (gain) on sale of property, plant, and equipment ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (68) 319 1,613
ESOP compensation expense ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì Ì 1,418
Deferred income taxes ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 2,627 (1,988) 8,540
Reclassification of unrealized losses on derivatives to earnings ÏÏÏÏÏÏ 321 300 279
Changes in operating assets and liabilities, net of business

acquisitions:
Accounts receivable ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (9,213) (9,639) (1,759)
Inventories ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (11,122) (10,592) 13,725
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 6,422 26,751 (6,031)
Income taxes payable ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (9,270) 6,298 (4,695)
Other Ì netÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 10,051 7,823 2,921

Total adjustments ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 13,461 53,833 48,429

Net cash provided by operating activitiesÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 69,432 85,215 60,775

Cash flows from investing activities:
Payments for purchase of property, plant, and equipment ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (26,615) (18,698) (18,802)
Proceeds from sale of property, plant, and equipment ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 3,706 367 770
Receipts associated with business acquisition ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì 395 Ì
Business acquisitions, net of cash acquired ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì (2,336) (57,669)

Net cash used in investing activitiesÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (22,909) (20,272) (75,701)

Cash flows from financing activities:
Cash dividends paid ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (11,861) (10,832) (10,707)
Proceeds from sales of treasury stockÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 6,674 2,875 1,043
Purchases of treasury stock ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (7,292) (1,547) (9,503)
Net proceeds (payments) from borrowings under revolving linesÏÏÏÏÏÏ 2,899 (30,391) 24,393
Proceeds from long-term debt ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì Ì 5,099
Payments of long-term debtÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (923) Ì (2,000)

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (10,503) (39,895) 8,325

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (318) (211) 831

Net change in cash and cash equivalents ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 35,702 24,837 (5,770)
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 48,895 24,058 29,828

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 84,597 $ 48,895 $ 24,058

Supplemental cash flow information:
Interest expense paid ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 5,654 $ 5,696 $ 4,884
Income taxes paidÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 24,768 9,919 3,399
Noncash investing activities:
Liabilities assumed in business acquisitionsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì 505 5,832

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Consolidated Statements of Shareholders' Equity WOODWARD

Year Ended September 30,

2005 2004 2003

(In thousands except per share
amounts)

Common stock
Beginning and ending balance ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 106 $ 106 $ 106

Additional paid-in capital
Beginning balance ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 15,878 $ 14,234 $ 13,850
Sales of treasury stock ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 1,894 878 (117)
Deferred compensation transferÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 657 Ì 335
Tax benefit applicable to stock options ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 3,403 766 166
Treasury stock cost adjustment ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 4,022 Ì Ì

Ending balance ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 25,854 $ 15,878 $ 14,234

Unearned ESOP compensation
Beginning balance ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ Ì $ Ì $ 1,418
ESOP compensation expense ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì Ì (1,418)

Ending balance ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ Ì $ Ì $ Ì

Accumulated other comprehensive earnings
Beginning balance ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 12,038 $ 9,625 $ 2,823
Foreign currency translation adjustments, net of reclassification to

earnings ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 336 2,628 6,368
Reclassification of unrealized losses on derivatives to earnings ÏÏÏÏÏÏ 200 186 173
Minimum pension liability adjustment ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (1,670) (401) 261

Ending balance ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 10,904 $ 12,038 $ 9,625

Deferred compensation
Beginning balance ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 4,461 $ 4,377 $ Ì
Deferred compensation invested in the company's common stock ÏÏÏ 984 120 4,377
Deferred compensation settled with the company's common stock ÏÏ (43) (36) Ì

Ending balance ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 5,402 $ 4,461 $ 4,377

Retained earnings
Beginning balance ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $381,458 $360,908 $359,248
Net earnings ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 55,971 31,382 12,346
Cash dividends Ì $1.04 per common share in 2005, $0.96 per

common share in 2004, and $0.9525 per common share in 2003 ÏÏ (11,861) (10,832) (10,707)
Tax benefit applicable to ESOP dividend ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì Ì 21

Ending balance ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $425,568 $381,458 $360,908

Treasury stock
Beginning balance ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 23,619 $ 24,069 $ 19,708
Purchases of treasury stock ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 7,292 1,547 9,503
Sales of treasury stock ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (4,780) (1,997) (1,160)
Deferred compensation transferÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (190) Ì (3,982)
Treasury stock cost adjustment ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 4,022 Ì Ì

Ending balance ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 29,963 $ 23,619 $ 24,069

27



Consolidated Statements of Shareholders' Equity Ì (Continued) WOODWARD

Year Ended September 30,

2005 2004 2003

(In thousands except per share
amounts)

Treasury stock held for deferred compensation
Beginning balance ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 4,461 $ 4,377 $ Ì
Deferred compensation transferÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 847 Ì 4,317
Share distributions ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (43) (36) Ì
Automatic dividend reinvestment ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 137 120 60

Ending balance ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 5,402 $ 4,461 $ 4,377

Total shareholders' equity
Beginning balance ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $385,861 $360,804 $354,901

Effect of changes among components of shareholders' equity:
Additional paid-in capitalÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 9,976 1,644 384
Unearned ESOP compensation ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì Ì 1,418
Accumulated other comprehensive earnings ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (1,134) 2,413 6,802
Deferred compensationÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 941 84 4,377
Retained earnings ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 44,110 20,550 1,660
Treasury stock ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (6,344) 450 (4,361)
Treasury stock held for deferred compensation ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (941) (84) (4,377)

Total effect of changes among components of shareholders' equity ÏÏ 46,608 25,057 5,903

Ending balance ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $432,469 $385,861 $360,804

Total comprehensive earnings
Net earnings ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 55,971 $ 31,382 $ 12,346

Other comprehensive earnings:
Foreign currency translation adjustments, net of reclassification to

earnings ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 336 2,628 6,368
Reclassification of unrealized losses on derivatives to earnings ÏÏÏÏ 200 186 173
Minimum pension liability adjustment ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (1,670) (401) 261

Total other comprehensive earnings ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (1,134) 2,413 6,802

Total comprehensive earnings ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 54,837 $ 33,795 $ 19,148

Common stock, number of shares
Beginning and ending balance ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 12,160 12,160 12,160

Treasury stock, number of shares
Beginning balance ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 844 901 832
Purchases of treasury stock ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 91 24 229
Sales of treasury stock ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (205) (81) (37)
Deferred compensation transferÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (12) Ì (123)

Ending balance ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 718 844 901

Treasury stock held for deferred compensation, number of shares
Beginning balance ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 125 124 Ì
Deferred compensation transferÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 12 Ì 123
Share distributions ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (1) (1) Ì
Automatic dividend reinvestment ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 2 2 1

Ending balance ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 138 125 124

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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WOODWARD

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(In thousands of dollars except per share amounts)

Note 1. Significant accounting policies:

Principles of consolidation: The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the company
and its majority-owned subsidiaries. Transactions within and between these companies are eliminated. Results
of joint ventures in which the company does not have a controlling financial interest are included in the
financial statements using the equity method of accounting.

Use of estimates: Financial statements prepared in conformity with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States require the use of estimates and assumptions that affect amounts reported.
Actual results could differ materially from our estimates.

Foreign currency translation: The assets and liabilities of substantially all subsidiaries outside the
United States are translated at year-end rates of exchange, and earnings and cash flow statements are
translated at weighted-average rates of exchange. Translation adjustments are accumulated with other
comprehensive earnings as a separate component of shareholders' equity and are presented net of tax effects in
the consolidated statements of shareholders' equity. The effect of changes in exchange rates on loans between
consolidated subsidiaries that are not expected to be repaid in the foreseeable future are also accumulated with
other comprehensive earnings.

Revenue recognition: We recognize sales when delivery of product has occurred or services have been
rendered and there is persuasive evidence of a sales arrangement, selling prices are fixed or determinable, and
collectibility from the customer is reasonably assured. We consider product delivery to have occurred when
the customer has taken title and assumed the risks and rewards of ownership of the products. Most of our sales
are made directly to customers that use our products, although we also sell products to distributors, dealers,
and independent service facilities. Sales terms for distributors, dealers, and independent service facilities are
identical to our sales terms for direct customers. We account for payments made to customers as a reduction
of revenue unless they are made in exchange for identifiable goods or services with fair values that can be
reasonably estimated. These reductions in revenues are recognized immediately to the extent that the
payments cannot be attributed to expected future sales, and are recognized in future periods to the extent that
the payments relate to future sales, based on the specific facts and circumstances underlying each payment.

Stock-based compensation: We use the intrinsic value method to account for stock-based employee
compensation under Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25, ""Accounting for Stock Issued to
Employees,'' and therefore we do not recognize compensation expense in association with options granted at or
above the market price of our common stock at the date of grant. The following table presents a reconciliation
of reported net earnings and per share information to pro forma net earnings and per share information that
would have been reported if the fair value method had been used to account for stock-based employee
compensation:

Year Ended September 30, 2005 2004 2003

Reported net earningsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $55,971 $31,382 $12,346

Compensation expense using the fair value method, net of
income tax benefitsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 1,502 1,400 1,025

Pro forma net earnings ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $54,469 $29,982 $11,321

Reported net earnings per share amounts:

BasicÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 4.91 $ 2.78 $ 1.10

Diluted ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 4.78 2.71 1.08

Pro forma net earnings per share amounts:

BasicÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 4.78 $ 2.66 $ 1.01

Diluted ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 4.67 2.60 0.99
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WOODWARD

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements Ì (Continued)
(In thousands of dollars except per share amounts)

Research and development costs: Expenditures related to new product development activities are
expensed when incurred and are separately reported in the consolidated statements of earnings.

Income taxes: Deferred income taxes are provided for the temporary differences between the financial
reporting basis and the tax basis of the company's assets and liabilities. We provide for taxes that may be
payable if undistributed earnings of overseas subsidiaries were to be remitted to the United States, except for
those earnings that we consider to be permanently reinvested.

Cash equivalents: Highly liquid investments purchased with an original maturity of three months or less
are considered to be cash equivalents.

Accounts receivable: Virtually all our sales are made on credit and result in accounts receivable, which
are recorded at the amount invoiced. In the normal course of business, not all accounts receivable are collected
and, therefore, we provide an allowance for losses of accounts receivable equal to the amount that we believe
ultimately will not be collected. We consider customer-specific information related to delinquent accounts,
past loss experience, and current economic conditions in establishing the amount of our allowance. Accounts
receivable losses are deducted from the allowance and the related accounts receivable balances are written off
when the receivables are deemed uncollectible. Recoveries of accounts receivable previously written off are
recognized when received.

Inventories: Inventories are valued at the lower of cost or market, with cost being determined on a
first-in, first-out basis.

Property, plant, and equipment: Property, plant, and equipment are recorded at cost and are depreciated
over the estimated useful lives of the assets, ranging from 5 to 45 years for buildings and improvements and 3
to 15 years for machinery and equipment. Assets placed in service after September 30, 1998, are depreciated
using the straight-line method and assets placed in service as of and prior to September 30, 1998, are
depreciated principally using accelerated methods. Assets are tested for recoverability whenever events or
circumstances indicate the carrying value is not recoverable.

Goodwill: Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of an acquired entity over the net amount assigned
to assets acquired and liabilities assumed. Goodwill is tested for impairment on an annual basis (as of April
1) and more often if an event occurs or circumstances change that would more likely than not reduce the fair
value of a reporting unit below its carrying amount.

The goodwill impairment test is a two-step process. In the first step, we compare the fair value of a
reporting unit with its carrying amount, including goodwill. The goodwill is considered potentially impaired if
the carrying amount of the reporting unit exceeds its fair value. The second step is performed for all goodwill
that is potentially impaired. In this step, we compare the implied fair value of the goodwill of the reporting unit
to the carrying amount of that goodwill. The implied fair value of the goodwill is determined in the same
manner as the amount of goodwill recognized when a business combination is determined. If the carrying
amount of goodwill exceeds the implied fair value of goodwill, we would recognize an impairment loss to
reduce the carrying amount to its implied fair value.

A reporting unit is the level at which goodwill is tested for impairment. A reporting unit is an operating
segment or a component one level below an operating segment if the component constitutes a business for
which discrete financial information is available and segment management regularly reviews the operating
results of that component. Two or more components would be aggregated and considered a single reporting
unit if the components have similar economic conditions. In our most recent impairment test, we determined
our operating segments were our reporting units for purposes of our impairment tests.

Other intangibles: Other intangibles are recognized apart from goodwill whenever an acquired intangi-
ble asset arises from contractual or other legal rights, or whenever it is capable of being separated or divided
from the acquired entity and sold, transferred, licensed, rented, or exchanged, either individually or in
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combination with a related contract, asset, or liability. An intangible other than goodwill is amortized over its
estimated useful life unless that life is determined to be indefinite. Currently, all of our intangibles have an
estimated useful life and are being amortized. Impairment losses are recognized if the carrying amount of an
intangible exceeds its fair value.

Deferred compensation: Deferred compensation obligations will be settled either by delivery of a fixed
number of shares of the company's common stock (in accordance with certain eligible members' irrevocable
elections) or in cash. We have contributed shares of common stock of the company into a trust established for
the future settlement of deferred compensation obligations that are payable in shares of the company's
common stock. Common stock held by the trust is reflected in the consolidated balance sheet as treasury stock
held for deferred compensation, and the related deferred compensation obligation is reflected as a separate
component of equity in amounts equal to the fair value of the common stock at the dates of contribution.
These accounts are not adjusted for subsequent changes in fair value of the common stock. Deferred
compensation obligations that will be settled in cash are accounted for on an accrual basis in accordance with
the terms of the underlying contract and are reflected in the consolidated balance sheet as an accrued expense.

Derivatives: We recognize derivatives, which are used to hedge risks associated with interest rates, as
assets or liabilities at fair value. These derivatives are designated as hedges of our exposure to changes in the
fair value of long-term debt or as hedges of our exposure to variable cash flows of future interest payments.
The gain or loss in the value of a derivative designated as a fair value hedge is recognized in earnings in the
period of change together with an offsetting loss or gain on long-term debt. The effective portion of a gain or
loss in the value of a derivative designated as a cash flow hedge is initially reported as a component of other
comprehensive earnings and is subsequently reclassified into earnings when the future interest payments affect
earnings. The ineffective portion of the gain or loss in the value of a derivative designated as a cash flow hedge
is reported in earnings immediately.

ESOP compensation: The company's member Investment and Stock Ownership Plan, a qualified
employee stock ownership plan (ESOP), used proceeds from a loan that was guaranteed by the company to
buy 1,027,224 shares of the company's common stock in 1992. The ESOP debt was included in the company's
consolidated balance sheet as long-term debt and the cost of the shares purchased by the ESOP was included
in the consolidated balance sheet as a component of shareholders' equity. ESOP compensation was recognized
as shares were allocated to plan participants using the shares-allocated method. All debt had been repaid and
all shares had been allocated prior to September 30, 2003.

New accounting standards: In November 2004, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 151, ""Inventory Costs.'' The Statement clarifies that
abnormal amounts of idle facility expense, freight, handling costs, and wasted material should be recognized as
current-period charges. This Statement also requires that allocations of fixed production overheads to the costs
of conversion be based on the normal capacity of the production facilities. The Statement becomes effective
for us on October 1, 2005. We currently do not expect that application of this Statement will have any material
effect on our financial statements.

In December 2004, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued a revised Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards No. 123R, ""Share-Based Payment.'' Among its provisions, the revised Statement will
require us to measure the cost of employee services in exchange for an award of equity instruments based on
the grant-date fair value of the award and to recognize the cost over the requisite service period. In accordance
with a Securities and Exchange Commission rule issued in April 2005, this revised Statement becomes
effective for us on October 1, 2005. As described in Note 1 to these financial statements, we currently use the
intrinsic value method to account for stock-based employee compensation. As a result, adoption of this revised
Statement is expected to reduce our net earnings in interim and annual periods after adoption. The amount of
reduction in net earnings will depend on the number of options granted, the vesting periods of options granted,
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and the fair value of options granted, as determined using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model. We believe
the best indication of the approximate immediate net earnings effect of adopting the provisions of this revised
Statement may be determined by reviewing Note 1 to these financial statements, which shows that net
earnings for 2005 would have decreased by $0.11 per diluted share if we had used the fair value method to
account for stock-based employee compensation. Also, concurrent with our adoption of the revised Statement,
we will begin to use the non-substantive vesting period approach for attributing stock-based employee
compensation to individual periods. The nominal vesting period approach was used in determining the stock-
based compensation expense for our pro forma net earnings disclosure in Note 1 to these financial statements.
The change in attribution method will not affect the ultimate amount of stock-based employee compensation
expense recognized, but could accelerate the recognition of such expense in the event there are non-
substantive vesting conditions, such as retirement eligibility provisions. However, our pro forma net earnings
would not have been materially different from amount disclosed in Note 1 had we used the non-substantive
vesting period approach rather than the nominal vesting period approach.

Note 2. Business acquisitions:

In June 2004, we acquired assets and assumed certain liabilities of Adrenaline Research, Inc., specialists
in advanced combustion electronics. Our cost for this acquisition totaled $2,896, and we recognized $3,139 as
other intangibles in the Industrial Controls segment. We are using an amortization period of seventeen years
for these intangibles. If we had completed this acquisition on October 1, 2002, net sales and net earnings for
2004 and 2003 would not have been materially different from amounts reported in the consolidated statements
of earnings.

In May 2003, we acquired 100 percent of the common stock of Synchro-Start Products, Inc., and in
August 2003, we acquired assets and assumed certain liabilities of Barber-Colman Dyna Products, a division
of Invensys Building Systems, Inc. Synchro-Start Products, Inc. specializes in the design and manufacture of
actuators, solenoids, and controls for industrial engines and equipment. Barber-Colman Dyna Products
manufactures and distributes controls for off-highway diesel and gas engines and mobile industrial equipment.
Our cost for these acquisitions totaled $58,084, of which $12,329 was recognized as goodwill, $20,607 was
recognized as customer relationships, and $5,940 was recognized as other intangibles, all in the Industrial
Controls segment. We are using weighted-average amortization periods of eleven years for customer
relationships, nine years for other intangibles, and eleven years in the aggregate. The total amount of goodwill
is expected to be fully deductible for income tax purposes. If we had completed these acquisitions on
October 1, 2002, net sales and net earnings for 2003 would not have been materially different from amounts
reported in the consolidated statements of earnings.

Note 3. Income taxes:

Income taxes consisted of the following:
Year Ended September 30, 2005 2004 2003

Current:

Federal ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $18,149 $12,400 $ 606

State ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 2,995 2,481 292

Foreign ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (675) 6,148 2,294

Deferred ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 2,668 (3,119) 4,401

$23,137 $17,910 $7,593
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Earnings before income taxes by geographical area consisted of the following:
Year Ended September 30, 2005 2004 2003

United StatesÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $81,244 $39,054 $22,279

Other countries ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (2,136) 10,238 (2,340)

$79,108 $49,292 $19,939

Deferred income taxes presented in the consolidated balance sheets are related to the following:
At September 30, 2005 2004

Deferred tax assets:

Retirement healthcare and early retirement benefits ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 18,434 $ 20,304

Foreign net operating loss carryforwards ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 18,694 18,629

InventoryÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 10,006 8,531

Other ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 24,022 23,623

Valuation allowanceÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (17,769) (18,629)

Total deferred tax assets, net of valuation allowanceÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 53,387 52,458

Deferred tax liabilities:

Intangibles Ì net ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (22,781) (19,190)

Other ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (9,596) (12,098)

Total deferred tax liabilities ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (32,377) (31,288)

Net deferred tax assets ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 21,010 $ 21,170

At September 30, 2005, we have not provided for taxes on undistributed foreign earnings of $17,777 that
we consider permanently reinvested. These earnings could become subject to income taxes if they are remitted
as dividends, are loaned to the company, or if we sell our stock in the subsidiaries. However, we believe that
foreign tax credits would largely offset any income tax that might otherwise be due.

We recorded a valuation allowance to reflect the estimated amount of deferred tax assets that may not be
realized due to certain foreign net operating loss carryforwards. Under existing laws, these net operating losses
may be carried forward indefinitely. However, we are uncertain whether we will generate taxable earnings in
the particular tax jurisdictions necessary to benefit from these carryforwards. All other deferred tax assets are
expected to be realized through future earnings. The changes in the valuation allowance were as follows:

Year Ended September 30, 2005 2004

Beginning balance ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $(18,629) $(16,528)

Foreign net operating loss carryforwardÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 860 (2,101)

Ending balanceÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $(17,769) $(18,629)

Foreign net operating loss carryforward amounts in the preceding table includes the translation effects of
changes in foreign currency exchange rates.
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The reasons for the differences between our effective income tax rate and the United States statutory
federal income tax rate were as follows:

Percent of Pretax Earnings,
Year Ended September 30, 2005 2004 2003

Statutory rateÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 35.0 35.0 35.0

State income taxes, net of federal tax benefit ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 2.5 3.6 3.0

Foreign loss effectÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 0.1 2.1 9.7

Foreign tax rate differences ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (0.7) Ì (3.3)

Foreign sales benefits ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (3.3) (3.4) (3.9)

ESOP dividends on allocated sharesÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (0.8) (1.1) (2.7)

Research credit ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (1.7) Ì Ì

Change in estimate of taxes for previous periods ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (2.5) Ì Ì

Other items, net ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 0.6 0.1 0.3

Effective rate ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 29.2 36.3 38.1

The change in estimate of taxes for previous periods in 2005 resulted from increases in the amount of
certain credits claimed and changes in the amount of certain deductions taken as compared to prior estimates.

Note 4. Earnings per share:
Year Ended September 30, 2005 2004 2003

Net earnings(A) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $55,971 $31,382 $12,346

Determination of shares, in thousands:

Weighted-average shares of common stock outstanding(B) ÏÏÏ 11,400 11,286 11,246

Assumed exercise of stock options ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 309 279 143

Weighted-average shares of common stock outstanding
assuming dilution(C) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 11,709 11,565 11,389

Net earnings per share:

Basic(A/B) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 4.91 $ 2.78 $ 1.10

Diluted(A/C) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 4.78 2.71 1.08

The weighted-average shares of common stock outstanding included the weighted-average shares held for
deferred compensation obligations of 130,465 for 2005, 124,965 for 2004, and 71 for 2003.

The following stock options were outstanding during 2005, 2004, and 2003 but were not included in the
computation of diluted earnings per share because the options' exercise prices were greater than the average
market price of the common shares during the respective periods:

Year Ended September 30, 2005 2004 2003

OptionsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 1,603 11,648 435,230

Weighted-average exercise price ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $84.82 $ 70.37 $ 47.12
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Note 5. Inventories:
At September 30, 2005 2004

Raw materialsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 4,876 $ 3,304

Component parts ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 97,429 88,760

Work in process ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 28,326 30,237

Finished goods ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 18,705 16,407

$149,336 $138,708

Note 6. Property, plant, and equipment:
At September 30, 2005 2004

Land ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 9,766 $ 10,380

Buildings and improvementsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 153,567 149,361

Machinery and equipment ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 238,550 237,677

Construction in progress ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 4,905 2,044

406,788 399,462

Less accumulated depreciationÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 292,001 282,152

Property, plant, and equipment Ì net ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $114,787 $117,310

Depreciation expense totaled $24,451 in 2005, $25,856 in 2004, and $27,548 in 2003.

Note 7. Goodwill:
Year Ended September 30, 2005 2004

Industrial Controls:

Beginning balance ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 69,420 $ 71,498

ReclassificationÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì (3,491)

Foreign currency exchange rate changes ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (507) 1,413

Ending balanceÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 68,913 $ 69,420

Aircraft Engine Systems:

Beginning and ending balance ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 62,122 $ 62,122

Consolidated:

Beginning balance ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $131,542 $133,620

ReclassificationÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì (3,491)

Foreign currency exchange rate changes ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (507) 1,413

Ending balanceÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $131,035 $131,542

We finalized accounting for an August 2003 business acquisition in 2004, which resulted in a
reclassification of amounts from goodwill primarily to other intangibles.
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Note 8. Other intangibles Ì net:
At September 30, 2005 2004

Industrial Controls:

Customer relationships:

Amount acquired ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 37,387 $ 37,387

Accumulated amortization ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (8,814) (6,215)

28,573 31,172

Other:

Amount acquired ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 31,207 31,502

Accumulated amortization ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (10,194) (7,490)

21,013 24,012

Total ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 49,586 $ 55,184

Aircraft Engine Systems:

Customer relationships:

Amount acquired ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 28,547 $ 28,547

Accumulated amortization ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (6,979) (6,027)

21,568 22,520

Other:

Amount acquired ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 11,785 11,785

Accumulated amortization ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (4,375) (3,778)

7,410 8,007

Total ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 28,978 $ 30,527

Consolidated:

Customer relationships:

Amount acquired ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 65,934 $ 65,934

Accumulated amortization ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (15,793) (12,242)

50,141 53,692

Other:

Amount acquired ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 42,992 43,287

Accumulated amortization ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (14,569) (11,268)

28,423 32,019

Total ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 78,564 $ 85,711

Amortization expense associated with current intangibles is expected to be approximately $7,000 for
2006, $6,600 for 2007, $5,800 for 2008, $5,500 for 2009, and $5,300 for 2010.

Note 9. Short-term borrowings:

Short-term borrowings reflect borrowings under certain bank lines of credit. The total amount available
under these lines of credit, including outstanding borrowings, totaled $25,695 at September 30, 2005, and
$26,426 at September 30, 2004. Interest on borrowings under the lines of credit is based on various short-term
rates. Several of the lines assess commitment fees. The lines are generally reviewed annually for renewal and
are subject to the usual terms and conditions applied by the banks. The weighted-average interest rate for
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outstanding borrowings was 2.3% at September 30, 2005, 2.8% at September 30, 2004, and 3.2% at
September 30, 2003.

Note 10. Long-term debt:
At September 30, 2005 2004

Senior notes Ì 6.39% ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $75,000 $75,000

Term note Ì 5.75% ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 11,135 12,422

Fair value hedge adjustments:

Interest rate swap agreements ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì (895)

Unrecognized discontinued hedge gains ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 1,233 2,881

87,368 89,408

Less current portionÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 14,426 956

$72,942 $88,452

The senior notes, which are held by multiple institutions, and the term note, which is held by a bank in
Germany, are uncollateralized. Required future principal payments of the senior notes and the term note at
September 30, 2005, are $14,426 in 2006, $14,426 in 2007, $14,426 in 2008, $10,714 in 2009, $10,714 in 2010,
and $21,429 thereafter.

We also have a revolving line of credit facility that involves uncollateralized financing arrangements with
a syndicate of U.S. banks. There is $100,000 available under the revolving line of credit facility and an option
to increase the amount of the line to $175,000. This line of credit expires March 11, 2010. Interest rates on
borrowings under the line vary with LIBOR, the money market rate, or the prime rate. At September 30,
2005, there were no outstanding borrowings against the line.

Previously, we had effectively offset our exposure to changes in the fair value of a portion of the senior
notes by entering into interest rate swap agreements that swapped interest payments at a fixed rate for rates
that varied with LIBOR. The fair value of these swap agreements were shown as an adjustment of long-term
debt to the extent that they were assessed as having no hedge ineffectiveness. At September 30, 2005, there
were no interest rate swap agreements.

We also discontinued certain interest rate swaps that were previously designated as fair value hedges of
long-term debt. These actions resulted in gains that are recognized as a reduction of interest expense over the
term of the associated hedged debt using the effective interest method. The unrecognized portion of the gain is
presented as an adjustment to long-term debt.

Provisions of the debt agreements include covenants customary to such agreements that require us to
maintain specified minimum or maximum financial measures and place limitations on various investing and
financing activities. The agreements also permit the lenders to accelerate repayment requirements in the event
of a material adverse event. Our most restrictive covenants require us to maintain a minimum consolidated net
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worth, a maximum consolidated debt to consolidated operating cash flow, and a maximum consolidated debt
to EBITDA, as defined in the agreements.

Note 11. Accrued liabilities:
At September 30, 2005 2004

Salaries and other member benefitsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $40,629 $41,236

WarrantiesÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 5,692 6,401

Taxes, other than on income ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 4,828 4,214

Other items Ì net ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 17,498 13,722

$68,647 $65,573

Salaries and other member benefits include accrued termination benefits totaling $4,935 at Septem-
ber 30, 2005, and $12,000 at September 30, 2004. Changes in accrued termination benefits were as follows:

Year Ended September 30, 2005 2004

Industrial Controls:

Beginning balance ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $12,000 $ 2,037

Expense:

Cost of goods sold ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 2,066 11,611

Selling, general, and administrative expenses ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 78 540

Accrual adjustments ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (2,204) (1,083)

Foreign currency exchange rate changes ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 36 170

PaymentsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (7,041) (1,275)

Ending balanceÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 4,935 $12,000

Aircraft Engine Systems:

Beginning balance ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ Ì $ 104

Expense:

Cost of goods sold ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì Ì

Selling, general, and administrative expenses ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì Ì

PaymentsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì (104)

Ending balanceÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ Ì $ Ì

Nonsegment:

Beginning balance ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ Ì $ 58

Expense-Selling, general, and administrative expenses ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì Ì

PaymentsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì (58)

Ending balanceÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ Ì $ Ì
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Year Ended September 30, 2005 2004

Consolidated:

Beginning balance ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $12,000 $ 2,199

Expense:

Cost of goods sold ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 2,066 11,611

Selling, general, and administrative expenses ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 78 540

Accrual adjustments ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (2,204) (1,083)

Foreign currency exchange rate changes ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 36 170

PaymentsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (7,041) (1,437)

Ending balanceÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 4,935 $12,000

Accrued termination benefits that were expensed in 2005 and 2004 were primarily related to the
consolidation of two European manufacturing operations with existing operations. This action is being taken to
streamline the organization by eliminating redundant manufacturing operations and is expected to be
substantially complete by March 31, 2006. The total expense for this action is currently estimated to be
approximately $16,000, of which $15,510 was recognized through September 30, 2005. In addition to the
amounts reflected in the preceding table, we recognized contractual pension termination benefits of $1,800 in
2004 and other costs primarily associated with moving equipment and inventory to other locations totaling
$1,770 in 2005. The remaining estimated amount of $490 is for costs associated with moving equipment and
inventory to other locations and for termination benefits that will be earned by members over their remaining
service period.

The accrual adjustments reflected in the preceding table were made as a result of changes in estimates for
termination benefits payable. These estimates changed because of voluntary member resignations, the transfer
of members to a third-party distributor, and more members electing early retirement options at a lower cost.

Provisions of our sales agreements include product warranties customary to such agreements. We
establish accruals for specifically identified warranty issues that are probable to result in future costs. We also
accrue for warranty costs on a non-specific basis whenever past experience indicates a normal and predictable
pattern exists. Changes in accrued product warranties were as follows:

Year Ended September 30, 2005 2004

Beginning balance ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 6,401 $ 6,113

Accruals related to warranties issued during the period ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 5,761 6,913

Accruals related to pre-existing warranties ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (1,543) (1,998)

Settlements of amounts accruedÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (4,876) (4,798)

Foreign currency exchange rate changes ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (51) 171

Ending balanceÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 5,692 $ 6,401
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Note 12. Retirement benefits:

We provide various benefits to eligible members of our company, including contributions to various
defined contribution plans, pension benefits associated with defined benefit plans, and retirement healthcare
benefits. The amount of expense associated with defined contribution plans totaled $12,705 in 2005, $11,785
in 2004, and $11,146 in 2003. The amount of contributions associated with multiemployer plans totaled $867
in 2005, $903 in 2004, and $665 in 2003. Information regarding our retirement pension benefits and retirement
healthcare benefits, using a September 30 measurement date, is provided in the tables and paragraphs that
follow.

Retirement Pension Benefits Retirement Healthcare
United States Other Countries BenefitsAt or for the Year

Ended September 30, 2005 2004 2005 2004 2005 2004

Changes in benefit obligation:

Benefit obligation at beginning of
year ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $18,855 $17,994 $ 48,967 $ 39,787 $ 82,725 $ 70,349

Service costÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì Ì 2,008 1,694 1,708 2,206

Interest cost ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 1,082 1,070 2,102 1,835 3,761 4,204

Contribution by plan participants Ì Ì 224 251 2,962 2,937

Net actuarial losses ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 2,237 180 3,506 2,312 2,916 8,326

Foreign currency exchange rate
changes ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì Ì (1,340) 2,487 (82) 208

Benefits paidÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (410) (389) (1,549) (1,199) (5,389) (5,505)

Plan amendmentsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì Ì Ì Ì (11,249) Ì

Curtailment gain ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì Ì Ì Ì (19,978) Ì

Contractual termination benefits Ì Ì Ì 1,800 Ì Ì

Benefit obligation at end of year ÏÏÏ 21,764 18,855 53,918 48,967 57,374 82,725

Changes in plan assets:

Fair value of plan assets at
beginning of year ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 13,826 11,587 32,816 27,689 Ì Ì

Actual return on plan assets ÏÏÏÏÏ 1,545 1,228 5,579 2,780 Ì Ì

Foreign currency exchange rate
changes ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì Ì (981) 1,614 Ì Ì

Contributions by the company ÏÏÏ Ì 1,400 1,799 1,681 2,427 2,568

Contributions by plan participants Ì Ì 224 251 2,962 2,937

Benefits paidÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (410) (389) (1,549) (1,199) (5,389) (5,505)

Fair value of plan assets at end of
year ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 14,961 13,826 37,888 32,816 Ì Ì

Funded status ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (6,803) (5,029) (16,030) (16,151) (57,374) (82,725)

Unamortized prior service costÏÏÏÏÏ 6 7 (74) (84) (10,458) (8,380)

Unrecognized net losses ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 5,674 4,040 10,354 11,124 17,633 36,286

Unamortized transition obligation ÏÏ Ì Ì 467 572 Ì Ì

Intangible assetÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì Ì (226) (488) Ì Ì

Accumulated other comprehensive
incomeÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (2,626) (1,513) (2,235) (682) Ì Ì

Net accrued benefit ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $(3,749) $(2,495) $ (7,744) $ (5,709) $(50,199) $(54,819)

Accumulated benefit obligation ÏÏÏÏ $18,710 $16,321 $ 45,632 $ 36,309
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Retirement Pension Benefits Retirement
United States Other Countries Healthcare Benefits

Year Ended September 30, 2005 2004 2003 2005 2004 2003 2005 2004 2003

Components of net
periodic benefit cost:

Service costÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ Ì $ Ì $ Ì $ 2,008 $ 1,694 $ 1,590 $ 1,708 $ 2,206 $ 1,717

Interest cost ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 1,082 1,070 1,110 2,102 1,835 1,600 3,761 4,204 3,863

Expected return on plan
assets ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (1,090) (942) (741) (2,069) (1,641) (1,293) Ì Ì Ì

Amortization of
unrecognized
transition obligation ÏÏ Ì Ì Ì 99 98 89 Ì Ì Ì

Recognized lossesÏÏÏÏÏÏ 148 170 235 553 533 593 1,550 1,343 767

Recognized prior service
costsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 1 1 1 (9) (9) (8) (1,346) (508) (508)

Contractual termination
benefits ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì Ì Ì Ì 1,800 Ì Ì Ì Ì

Curtailment gain ÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì Ì Ì Ì Ì Ì (7,825) Ì Ì

Net periodic benefit cost $ 141 $ 299 $ 605 $ 2,684 $ 4,310 $ 2,571 $ (2,152) $ 7,245 $ 5,839

Increase (decrease) in
minimum pension
liability adjustment
included in other
comprehensive
earnings ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 1,113 $ 240 $ 185 $ 1,553 $ 390 $ (556) $ Ì $ Ì $ Ì

Weighted-average
assumptions used to
determine benefit
obligation at
September 30:

Discount rate ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 5.30% 5.80% 6.00% 4.08% 4.36% 4.06% 5.28% 5.79% 6.00%

Rate of compensation
increase ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 4.50% 5.00% 5.00% 3.16% 3.02% 2.91% Ì Ì Ì

Weighted-average
assumptions used to
determine net periodic
benefit cost for years
ended September 30:

Discount rate ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 5.80% 6.00% 6.50% 4.36% 4.06% 4.29% 5.79% 6.00% 6.75%

Rate of compensation
increase ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 5.00% 5.00% 5.00% 3.02% 2.91% 3.65% Ì Ì Ì

Expected long-term rate
of return on plan
assets ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 8.00% 8.25% 8.25% 6.04% 5.44% 5.36% Ì Ì Ì

In 2005, we recognized a curtailment gain of $7,825 as a result of amendments to one of our retirement
healthcare benefit plans, which reduced the number of individuals who will qualify for benefits in future
periods. Also, these amendments reduce future net periodic benefit costs over amounts that would have been
recognized prior to the amendments.
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In 2004, we recognized contractual pension termination benefits of $1,800 as a result of workforce
reductions that were probable during 2005 and 2006. We expect these reductions to be completed by
December 31, 2005. Future payments associated with these benefits are included in the table of estimated
benefit payments that follows.

As part of our retirement healthcare benefits, we provide a prescription drug benefit that is at least
actuarially equivalent to Medicare Part D. As a result, we are entitled to a federal subsidy that was introduced
by the Medicare Prescription Drug, Improvement and Modernization Act of 2003. The effect of the subsidy
reduced our accumulated postretirement benefit obligation by $7,934 at January 1, 2004, which was the date
the Act became effective. It also reduced our net periodic postretirement benefit cost for 2004 by $843, which
consisted of $189 for service cost, $356 for interest cost, and $298 for recognized actuarial gains.

Estimated benefit payments to be made over the next ten years, with retirement healthcare benefit
payments presented net of estimated participant contributions, are as follows:

Retirement
Pension Benefits Retirement

United Other Healthcare
Year Ending September 30, States Countries Benefits

2006 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 438 $3,728 $3,557

2007 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 476 1,889 3,317

2008 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 512 1,639 3,463

2009 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 567 1,702 3,645

2010 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 623 1,994 3,780

2011 Ó 2015 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 4,845 11,466 20,122

We expect contributions by the company for retirement pension benefits will be $0 in the United States
and $1,255 in other countries in 2006. We also expect contributions by the company for retirement healthcare
benefits will be $3,557 in 2006, less amounts received as federal subsidies.

For retirement healthcare benefits, we assumed net healthcare cost trend rates of 10.00% in 2006,
decreasing gradually to 5.00% in 2011, and remaining at 5.00% thereafter. A 1.00% increase in assumed
healthcare cost trend rates would have increased the total of the service and interest cost components by $752
and increased the benefit obligation at the end of the year by $6,564 in 2005. Likewise, a 1.00% decrease in the
assumed rates would have decreased the total of service and interest cost components by $629 and decreased
the benefit obligation by $5,588 in 2005.

Our investment policies and strategies for plan assets focus on maintaining diversified investment
portfolios that provide for growth while minimizing risk to principal. The target allocation ranges for our plan
assets in the United States are 40-60% for United States equity securities, 10-15% for foreign equity securities,
and 35-45% for debt securities. The target allocation ranges for our plan assets in the United Kingdom, which
represented about 70% of total foreign plan assets at September 30, 2005, are 47-57% for debt securities, 23-
27% for United Kingdom equity securities, and 23-27% for non-United Kingdom equity securities. The
remaining foreign plan assets are in Japan, and our investment manager uses asset allocations that are
customary in that country. The expected long-term rates of return on plan assets were based on our current
asset allocations and the historical long-term performance for each asset class, as adjusted for existing market
conditions.
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The actual percentage of the fair value of total plan assets were as follows:
United Other
States Countries

At September 30, 2005 2004 2005 2004

Equity securities ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 60% 60% 55% 71%

Debt securities ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 40% 39% 34% 12%

Insurance contracts ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì Ì 10% 13%

Other ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì 1% 1% 4%

100% 100% 100% 100%

Note 13. Stock option plan:

We have a stock option plan covering key management members and directors of the company. Options
granted under the plan generally have a term of 10 years and vest evenly at the end of each year over four years
from the date of grant. There were 2,100,000 shares of common stock originally authorized for issuance under
the plan, which remained unchanged through September 30, 2005.

Changes in outstanding stock options were as follows:
Weighted-
Average
Exercise

Number Price

Balance at September 30, 2002 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 936,218 $32.64

Options granted ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 125,000 46.86

Options exercisedÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (34,706) 27.31

Options forfeited ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (21,750) 44.96

Balance at September 30, 2003 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 1,004,762 34.33

Options granted ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 169,000 46.94

Options exercisedÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (81,248) 35.01

Options forfeited ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (5,250) 49.25

Options expired ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (3,000) 55.74

Balance at September 30, 2004 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 1,084,264 36.11

Options granted ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 143,500 72.82

Options exercisedÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (204,787) 31.55

Options forfeited ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (20,375) 52.00

Options expired ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (2,979) 73.70

Balance at September 30, 2005 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 999,623 $41.88

The weighted-average estimated fair value of options granted during the year, as measured at their grant
date, was $28.19 in 2005, $15.68 in 2004, and $14.85 in 2003. These estimates were determined using the
Black-Scholes option-pricing model and the following weighted-average assumptions by grant year:

Year Ended September 30, 2005 2004 2003

Risk-free interest rate ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 4.0% 3.7% 3.4%

Expected lifeÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 7 years 7 years 7 years

Expected volatility ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 37.7% 37.0% 35.0%

Expected dividend yieldÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 1.7% 2.6% 2.5%
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Information about outstanding stock options at September 30, 2005, follows:
Options Outstanding

at September 30, 2005 Options Exercisable at
September 30, 2005Weighted-

Weighted- Average Weighted-
Average Remaining Average
Exercise Life in Exercise

Exercise Price Range Number Price Years Number Price

$16.63 Ì $24.75 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 279,070 $22.46 2.4 279,070 $22.46

$30.59 Ì $41.81 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 216,723 $36.13 3.5 216,723 $36.13

$46.42 Ì $59.00 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 358,330 $47.96 7.0 169,829 $48.81

$69.22 Ì $84.82 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 145,500 $72.71 9.0 6,000 $69.22

999,623 $41.88 5.3 671,622 $33.95

There were 747,013 stock options exercisable at September 30, 2004, with a weighted-average exercise
price of $31.14, and 681,937 at September 30, 2003, with a weighted-average exercise price of $29.36.

Note 14. Shareholder rights plan:

We have a shareholder rights plan that expires on January 17, 2006. In connection with this plan, a
dividend of one preferred stock purchase right for each outstanding share of common stock was paid to
shareholders in February 1996. Each right entitles its holder to purchase from the company one-four
hundredth of a share of Series A Preferred Stock, par value $0.003 per share, at a price of $75.00 (subject to
adjustment, and restated for the January 1997 stock split). The rights may not be exercised or transferred
apart from the company's common stock until 10 days after it is announced that a person or group has
acquired 15% or more of the outstanding common stock or 15 business days after it is announced that there is
an offer (or an intent to make an offer) by a person or group to acquire 15% or more of the outstanding
common stock. The Board of Directors may extend the 15 business day period referred to above and may
redeem the rights in whole (but not in part) at a redemption price of $0.003 per right at any time prior to an
acquisition of 15% or more of the outstanding common stock by a person or group.
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Note 15. Accumulated other comprehensive earnings:

Accumulated other comprehensive earnings, which totaled $10,904 at September 30, 2005, and $12,038
at September 30, 2004, consisted of the following items:

Year Ended September 30, 2005 2004

Accumulated foreign currency translation adjustments:

Beginning balance ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $14,239 $11,611

Translation adjustmentsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (1,391) 4,237

Taxes associated with translation adjustments ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 1,727 (1,609)

Ending balanceÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $14,575 $14,239

Accumulated unrealized derivative losses:

Beginning balance ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ (861) $(1,047)

Reclassification to interest expense ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 321 300

Taxes associated with interest reclassification ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (121) (114)

Ending balanceÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ (661) $ (861)

Accumulated minimum pension liability adjustments:

Beginning balance ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $(1,340) $ (939)

Minimum pension liability adjustment ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (2,666) (680)

Taxes associated with minimum pension liability adjustments ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 996 279

Ending balanceÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $(3,010) $(1,340)

Note 16. Leases:

We have entered into operating leases for certain facilities and equipment with terms in excess of one
year. Future minimum rental payments required under these leases are approximately $3,600 in 2006, $3,000
in 2007, $2,000 in 2008, $1,600 in 2009, $1,400 in 2010, and $2,000 thereafter. Rent expense for all operating
leases totaled $4,557 in 2005, $4,239 in 2004, and $4,125 in 2003.

Note 17. Contingencies:

We are currently involved in pending or threatened litigation or other legal proceedings regarding
employment, product liability, and contractual matters arising from the normal course of business. We
accrued for individual matters that we believe are likely to result in a loss when ultimately resolved using
estimates of the most likely amount of loss. There are also individual matters that we believe the likelihood of
a loss when ultimately resolved is less than likely but more than remote, which were not accrued. While it is
possible that there could be additional losses that have not been accrued, we currently believe the possible
additional loss in the event of an unfavorable resolution of each matter is less than $5,000 in the aggregate.

We also file income tax returns in various jurisdictions worldwide, which are subject to audit. We have
accrued for our estimate of the most likely amount of expense that we believe will result from income tax audit
adjustments.

We do not recognize contingencies that might result in a gain until such contingencies are resolved and
the related amounts are realized.

In the event of a change in control of the company, we may be required to pay termination benefits to
certain executive officers.
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Note 18. Financial instruments:

The estimated fair values of our financial instruments were as follows:
At September 30, 2005 2004

Cash and cash equivalents ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 84,597 $ 48,895

Interest rate swap agreements ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì (895)

Short-term borrowingsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (8,419) (5,833)

Long-term debt, including current portion ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (89,433) (93,947)

The fair values of cash and cash equivalents, short-term borrowings, and long-term debt at variable
interest rates were assumed to be equal to their carrying amounts. Cash and cash equivalents have short-term
maturities, short-term borrowings have short-term maturities and market interest rates, and long-term debt at
variable interest rates is repriced frequently at market rates of interest. Interest rate swap agreements are
carried at their fair value, which is estimated based on proprietary models used by financial institutions that
rely on assumptions regarding past, present, and future market conditions. The fair value of long-term debt at
fixed interest rates was estimated based on a model that discounted future principal and interest payments at
interest rates available to the company at the end of the year for similar debt of the same maturity. The
weighted-average interest rates used to estimate the fair value of long-term debt at fixed interest rates were
4.90% at September 30, 2005, and 4.28% at September 30, 2004.

We hold cash and cash equivalents at financial institutions in excess of amounts covered by federal
depository insurance.

Note 19. Segment information:

Our operations are organized based on the market application of our products and related services and
consist of two operating segments Ì Industrial Controls and Aircraft Engine Systems. Industrial Controls
provides components and integrated systems primarily to OEMs of industrial diesel and gas engines, industrial
gas turbines, steam turbines, compressors, gensets and switchgear, and fuel cells. Aircraft Engine Systems
provides components and integrated systems primarily to OEMs of aircraft gas turbines.

The accounting policies of the segments are the same as those described in Note 1. Intersegment sales
and transfers are made at established intersegment selling prices generally intended to approximate selling
prices to unrelated parties. Our determination of segment earnings does not reflect allocations of certain
corporate expenses, which we designate as nonsegment expenses, and is before curtailment gain, interest
expense, interest income, and income taxes.
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Segment assets consist of accounts receivable, inventories, property, plant, and equipment Ì net,
goodwill, and other intangibles Ì net. Summarized financial information for our segments follows:

At or for the Year Ended September 30, 2005 2004 2003

Industrial Controls:

External net sales ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $536,937 $439,801 $332,755

Intersegment salesÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 1,118 849 697

Segment earnings (loss)ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 28,821 6,437 (11,588)

Segment assets ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 370,220 364,584 336,654

Depreciation and amortizationÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 20,566 21,341 18,914

Capital expenditures ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 13,844 13,564 11,601

Aircraft Engine Systems:

External net sales ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $290,789 $270,004 $253,927

Intersegment salesÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 4,385 2,193 2,016

Segment earnings ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 64,052 59,192 47,615

Segment assets ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 208,140 205,580 217,685

Depreciation and amortizationÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 9,736 10,276 11,464

Capital expenditures ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 11,205 4,281 5,775

Industrial Controls recognized contractual pension termination benefits of $1,800 in 2004, which was
recognized as a reduction of segment earnings in the preceding table.

The differences between the total of segment amounts and the consolidated financial statements were as
follows:

Year Ended September 30, 2005 2004 2003

Total segment net sales and intersegment salesÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $833,229 $712,847 $589,395

Elimination of intersegment sales ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (5,503) (3,042) (2,713)

Consolidated net sales ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $827,726 $709,805 $586,682

Total segment earningsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 92,873 $ 65,629 $ 36,027

Nonsegment expensesÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (17,935) (12,100) (12,323)

Curtailment gain ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 7,825 Ì Ì

Interest expense and income, net ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (3,655) (4,237) (3,765)

Consolidated earnings before income taxes ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 79,108 $ 49,292 $ 19,939

At September 30, 2005 2004 2003

Total segment assetsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $578,360 $570,164 $554,339

Unallocated corporate property, plant, and equipment Ì net 2,765 2,384 2,812

Other unallocated assetsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 124,341 81,746 58,848

Consolidated total assets ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $705,466 $654,294 $615,999

Differences between total depreciation and amortization and capital expenditures of our segments and the
corresponding consolidated amounts reported in the consolidated statements of cash flows are due to
unallocated corporate amounts.

One customer individually accounted for more than 10% of consolidated net sales in each of the years
2003 through 2005. These sales were made by both of our segments and totaled approximately $189,000 in
2005, $156,000 in 2004, and $151,000 in 2003. In addition, a second customer individually accounted for more
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than 10% of consolidated net sales in 2004 and 2005. These sales were made by Industrial Controls and totaled
approximately $105,000 in 2005 and $83,000 in 2004.

External net sales by geographical area, as determined by the location of the customer invoiced, were as
follows:

Year Ended September 30, 2005 2004 2003

United StatesÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $446,318 $413,901 $332,986

Other countries ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 381,408 295,904 253,696

$827,726 $709,805 $586,682

Property, plant, and equipment Ì net by geographical area, as determined by the physical location of the
assets, were as follows:

At September 30, 2005 2004

United States ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 85,595 $ 84,091

Other countriesÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 29,192 33,219

$114,787 $117,310

Note 20. Unaudited Quarterly Financial information:
2005 Fiscal Quarters

First Second Third Fourth

Net sales ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $189,325 $210,619 $210,252 $217,530

Gross profitÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 46,052 53,099 51,385 53,510

Earnings before income taxes ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 19,040 20,290 25,488 14,290

Net earnings ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 11,995 12,979 19,746 11,251

Net earnings per share:

Basic ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 1.06 1.14 1.73 0.98

Diluted ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 1.03 1.11 1.68 0.96

Cash dividends per share ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 0.24 0.25 0.25 0.30

Common share price per share:

High ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 73.95 74.96 87.70 90.00

Low ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 58.50 66.03 60.25 75.79

Close ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 71.61 71.70 84.03 85.05
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2004 Fiscal Quarters

First Second Third Fourth

Net sales ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $158,973 $172,951 $180,496 $197,385

Gross profitÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 41,284 42,888 45,064 38,329

Earnings before income taxes ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 12,021 14,589 13,218 9,464

Net earnings ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 7,393 9,105 8,213 6,671

Net earnings per share:

Basic ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 0.66 0.81 0.73 0.59

Diluted ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 0.65 0.79 0.71 0.57

Cash dividends per share ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 0.24 0.24 0.24 0.24

Common share price per share:

High ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 57.65 65.00 73.72 72.69

Low ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 43.02 54.26 59.04 54.75

Close ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 56.83 63.74 72.11 67.49

Notes:

1. Gross profit represents net sales less cost of goods sold. Certain reclassifications have been made to cost of
goods sold on a quarterly basis to conform to the presentation in our consolidated statements of earnings
for the year ended September 30, 2004.

2. Earnings before income taxes included a curtailment gain associated with an amendment to a retiree
healthcare benefit plan of $7,825 in the third fiscal quarter of 2005.

3. Earnings before income taxes included the effects of workforce management actions in 2005 and 2004 to
consolidate certain facilities and better align staffing levels with expected demand. Our workforce
management costs consisted of the following:

2005 Fiscal Quarters

First Second Third Fourth

Member termination benefits ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $488 $ 384 $ 475 $ 797

Related costs of facility consolidationÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì Ì 943 827

Member termination benefits adjustmentsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì (2,115) (89) Ì

Total workforce management costsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $488 $(1,731) $1,329 $ 1,624

Amount of workforce management costs affecting gross
profitÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $472 $(1,688) $1,313 $ 1,616

2004 Fiscal Quarters

First Second Third Fourth

Member termination benefits ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $151 $ Ì $ Ì $12,000

Contractual pension termination benefits ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì Ì Ì 1,800

Member termination benefits adjustmentsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (83) (348) Ì (652)

Total workforce management costsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 68 $ (348) $ Ì $13,148

Amount of workforce management costs affecting gross
profitÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 50 $ (288) $ Ì $12,612
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders
of Woodward Governor Company:

We have completed an integrated audit of Woodward Governor Company's 2005 consolidated financial
statements and of its internal control over financial reporting as of September 30, 2005 and audits of its 2004
and 2003 consolidated financial statements in accordance with the standards of the Public Company
Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Our opinions, based on our audits, are presented below.

Consolidated financial statements and financial statement schedule

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements listed in the index appearing under Item 15(a)(1)
present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Woodward Governor Company and its
subsidiaries at September 30, 2005 and 2004, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each
of the three years in the period ended September 30, 2005 in conformity with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America. In addition, in our opinion, the financial statement schedule listed
in the index appearing under Item 15(a)(2) presents fairly, in all material respects, the information set forth
therein when read in conjunction with the related consolidated financial statements. These financial
statements and the financial statement schedule are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our
responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements and the financial statement schedule based
on our audits. We conducted our audits of these statements in accordance with the standards of the Public
Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform
the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material
misstatement. An audit of financial statements includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the
amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant
estimates made by management, and evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that
our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Internal control over financial reporting

Also, in our opinion, management's assessment, included in Management's Report on Internal Control
Over Financial Reporting appearing under Item 9A that the Company maintained effective internal control
over financial reporting as of September 30, 2005 based on criteria established in Internal Control Ì
Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission
(COSO), is fairly stated, in all material respects, based on those criteria. Furthermore, in our opinion, the
Company maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of
September 30, 2005, based on criteria established in Internal Control Ì Integrated Framework issued by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). The Company's manage-
ment is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of
the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting. Our responsibility is to express opinions on
management's assessment and on the effectiveness of the Company's internal control over financial reporting
based on our audit. We conducted our audit of internal control over financial reporting in accordance with the
standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that
we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over
financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. An audit of internal control over financial reporting
includes obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, evaluating management's
assessment, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control, and performing
such other procedures as we consider necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a
reasonable basis for our opinions.

A company's internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable
assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company's internal control
over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (i) pertain to the maintenance of records
that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the

50



company; (ii) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation
of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and
expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and
directors of the company; and (iii) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of
unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company's assets that could have a material effect on the
financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect
misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that
controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the
policies or procedures may deteriorate.

/s/ PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Chicago, Illinois
November 21, 2005
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Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP was engaged as the principal registered public accounting firm to audit our
consolidated financial statements during our two most recent fiscal years, and no other accountant was
engaged during this period on whom they expressed reliance in their report.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures

We have established disclosure controls and procedures, which are designed to ensure that information
required to be disclosed in reports filed or submitted under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 is recorded,
processed, summarized, and reported, within the time periods specified in the Securities and Exchange
Commission's rules and forms. These disclosure controls and procedures include, without limitation, controls
and procedures designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed in the reports that we file or
submit under the Act is accumulated and communicated to management, including our principal executive
officer (Thomas A. Gendron, president and chief executive officer) and principal financial officer (Robert F.
Weber, Jr., chief financial officer and treasurer), as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required
disclosures.

Thomas A. Gendron, our president and chief executive officer, and Robert F. Weber, Jr., our chief
financial officer and treasurer, evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures as of the
end of the period covered by this Form 10-K. Based on their evaluation, they concluded that our disclosure
controls and procedures were effective in achieving the objectives for which they were designed as described in
the preceding paragraph.

Management's Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

We are responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting for
the company. We have evaluated the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting using the criteria
established in Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations
of the Treadway Commission (COSO) and, based on that evaluation, have concluded that the company's
internal control over financial reporting was effective as of September 30, 2005, the end of the company's most
recent fiscal year.

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm, completed an inte-
grated audit of the company's 2005 consolidated financial statements and of the company's internal control
over financial reporting as of September 30, 2005. Their report on the integrated audit has been filed as part of
this Form 10-K and includes their evaluation of our assessment of internal control over financial reporting.

Internal control over financial reporting is a process designed by, or under the supervision of, our principal
executive and principal financial officers, or persons performing similar functions, and effected by our board of
directors, management, and other personnel, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of our
financial reporting and the preparation of our financial statements for external purposes in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles. Internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and
procedures that:

‚ Pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the
transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company;

‚ Provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of
financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and
expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorization of management
and directors of the company; and

‚ Provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use
or disposition of the company's assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

There has been no change in our internal control over financial reporting during the fourth fiscal quarter
covered by this Form 10-K that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal
control over financial reporting.
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Item 9B. Other Information

There is no information required to be disclosed in a report on Form 8-K during the fourth quarter of the
year ended September 30, 2005, that was not reported on Form 8-K.

PART III

Item 10. Directors and Executive Officers of the Registrant

Executive Officers:

John A. Halbrook, age 60 Ì chairman since July 2005; chairman and chief executive officer January
1995 through June 2005; chief executive officer and president November 1993 through January 1995;
president November 1991 through November 1993.

Thomas A. Gendron, age 44 Ì president and chief executive officer since July 2005; president and chief
operating officer September 2002 through June 2005; vice president and general manager of Industrial
Controls June 2001 through September 2002; vice president of Industrial Controls April 2000 through May
2001; director of global marketing and Industrial Controls' business development February 1999 through
March 2000.

Robert F. Weber, Jr., age 51 Ì chief financial officer and treasurer since August 2005. Prior to August
2005, Mr. Weber was employed at Motorola, Inc. for 17 years, where he held various positions, including
corporate vice president and general manager Ì EMEA Auto, corporate vice president and director Ì
strategy, corporate vice president and finance director Ì IESS, and other financial roles from business
controller up through a sector finance director. Mr. Weber also held the position in the corporate finance
department at Motorola as the senior manager responsible for all financial reporting at the corporate level Ì
annual report, SEC filings, internal reporting, and special filings. In addition, Mr. Weber served as the senior
manager responsible for corporate internal audit at Motorola with global audit responsibility.

Carol J. Manning, age 55 Ì secretary since June 1991.

All executive officers were elected to their current positions to serve until the January 25, 2006, Board of
Directors meeting, or until their successors have been elected. The Board of Directors elected the executive
officers to their current positions on the following dates: Carol J. Manning on January 26, 2005; John A.
Halbrook and Thomas A. Gendron on July 1, 2005; and Robert F. Weber, Jr., on August 23, 2005.

We have adopted a code of ethics for senior financial officers and other finance members that applies to
Thomas A. Gendron, our principal executive officer, and Robert F. Weber, Jr., our principal financial and
accounting officer. This code of ethics, which is listed in Exhibit 14 in ""Item 15 Ì Exhibits and Financial
Statement Schedules,'' is incorporated here by reference.

Other information regarding our directors and executive officers is under the captions ""Board of
Directors,'' ""Board Meetings and Committees Ì Audit Committee'' (including information with respect to
audit committee financial experts), ""Share Ownership of Management,'' and ""Section 16(a) Beneficial
Ownership Reporting Compliance'' in our proxy statement for the 2005 annual meeting of shareholders to be
held January 25, 2006, incorporated here by reference.

Item 11. Executive Compensation

Information regarding executive compensation is under the captions ""Board Meetings and Commit-
tees Ì Director Compensation,'' ""Executive Compensation,'' ""Stock Options,'' and ""Long-Term Manage-
ment Incentive Compensation Plan Awards'' in our proxy statement for the 2005 annual meeting of
shareholders to be held January 25, 2006, incorporated here by reference.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management

Information regarding security ownership of certain beneficial owners and management and related
stockholder matters is under the tables captioned ""Share Ownership of Management,'' ""Stock Options Ì
Equity Compensation Plan Information,'' and ""Persons Owning More than Five Percent of Woodward Stock''
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in our proxy statement for the 2005 annual meeting of shareholders to be held January 25, 2006, incorporated
here by reference.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions

Information regarding certain relationships and related transactions is under the caption ""Board Meetings
and Committees Ì Director Compensation'' in our proxy statement for the 2005 annual meeting of
shareholders to be held January 25, 2006, incorporated here by reference.

Item 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services

Information regarding principal accounting fees and services is under the captions ""Audit Committee
Report to Shareholders Ì Audit Committee's Policy on Pre-Approval of Services Provided by Independent
Registered Public Accounting Firm and Fees Paid to PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP'' in our proxy statement
for the 2005 annual meeting of shareholders to be held January 25, 2006, incorporated herein by reference.

PART IV

Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules

(a)(1) Consolidated Financial Statements:
Page Number in

Form 10-K

Consolidated Statements of Earnings for the years ended September 30,
2005, 2004, and 2003 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 24

Consolidated Balance Sheets at September 30, 2005 and 2004ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 25

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended
September 30, 2005, 2004, and 2003 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 26

Consolidated Statements of Shareholders' Equity for the years ended
September 30, 2005, 2004, and 2003 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 27

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 29

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 50

(a)(2) Consolidated Financial Statement Schedules

Valuation and Qualifying AccountsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 58

Financial statements and schedules other than those listed above are omitted for the reason that they are
not applicable, are not required, or the information is included in the financial statements or the footnotes.
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(a)(3) Exhibits Filed as Part of This Report.

3(i) Articles of Incorporation Filed as Exhibit 3(i) to Form 10-K for the year ended
September 30, 1999, incorporated here by reference.

3(ii) By-laws Filed as Exhibit 3(ii) to Form 10-Q for the three months ended
June 30, 2005, incorporated here by reference.

4.1 Note Purchase Agreement dated Filed as Exhibit 4 to Form 10-Q for the three months ended
October 15, 2001 December 31, 2001, incorporated here by reference.

4.2 Credit Agreement dated Filed as Exhibit 4 to Form 10-Q for the three months ended
March 11, 2005 March 31, 2005, incorporated here by reference.

10.1 Long-Term Management Filed as Exhibit 10(c) to Form 10-K for the year ended
Incentive Compensation Plan September 30, 2000, incorporated here by reference.

10.2 Annual Management Incentive Filed as Exhibit 10(d) to Form 10-K for the year ended
Compensation Plan September 30, 2000, incorporated here by reference.

10.3 Form of Outside Director Stock Filed as Exhibit 10(g) to Form 10-K for the year ended
Purchase Agreement with September 30, 2000, incorporated here by reference.
Michael H. Joyce 

10.4 Form of Outside Director Stock Filed as Exhibit 10(h) to Form 10-K for the year ended
Purchase Agreement with Paul September 30, 2001, incorporated here by reference.
Donovan 

10.5 2002 Stock Option Plan, effective Filed as Exhibit 10 (iii) to Form 10-Q for the three months ended
January 1, 2002 March 31, 2002, incorporated here by reference.

10.6 Executive Benefit Plan (non- Filed as Exhibit 10(e) to Form 10-K for the year ended
qualified deferred September 30, 2002, incorporated here by reference.
compensation plan) 

10.7 Form of Outside Director Stock Filed as Exhibit 10(j) to Form 10-K for the year ended
Purchase Agreement with September 30, 2002, incorporated here by reference.
James L. Rulseh 

10.8 Form of Transitional Filed as Exhibit 10 to Form 10-Q for the three months ended
Compensation Agreement with December 31, 2002, incorporated here by reference.
John A. Halbrook and
Thomas A. Gendron 

10.9 Retirement Transition Agreement Filed as Exhibit 99.2 to Form 8-K dated November 23, 2004,
with Stephen P. Carter incorporated here by reference.

10.10 Summary of non-employee Filed as Exhibit 10(j) for the year ended September 30, 2004,
director meeting fees and incorporated here by reference.
compensation 

10.11 Material Definitive Agreement Filed on Form 8-K dated July 27, 2005, incorporated here by
with Thomas A. Gendron reference.

10.12 Transitional Compensation Filed on Form 8-K dated August 22, 2005, incorporated here by
Agreement with Robert F. reference.
Weber, Jr. 

11 Statement on computation of Included in Note 4 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
earnings per share 

14 Code of Ethics Filed as Exhibit 14 to Form 10-K for the year ended September 30,
2003, incorporated here by reference.

21 Subsidiaries Filed as an exhibit.
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23 Consent of Independent Registered Filed as an exhibit.
Public Accounting Firm.

31(i) Certification of Thomas A. Filed as an exhibit.
Gendron pursuant to
Section 302 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002.

31(ii) Certification of Robert F. Filed as an exhibit.
Weber, Jr. pursuant to
Section 302 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002.

32(i) Certification pursuant to Filed as an exhibit.
18 U.S.C. Section 1350 as
adopted pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002.

99(i) Additional exhibit Ì description Filed as an exhibit.
of annual report charts. 
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the
registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

WOODWARD GOVERNOR COMPANY

/s/ THOMAS A. GENDRON

Thomas A. Gendron
President and Chief Executive Officer

(Principal Executive Officer)

Date: November 29, 2005

/s/ ROBERT F. WEBER, JR.

Robert F. Weber, Jr.
Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer

(Principal Financial Officer and
Principal Accounting Officer)

Date: November 29, 2005

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below
by the following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Signature Title Date

/s/ JOHN D. COHN Director November 29, 2005

John D. Cohn

/s/ PAUL DONOVAN Director November 29, 2005

Paul Donovan

/s/ JOHN A. HALBROOK Chairman of the Board November 29, 2005
and DirectorJohn A. Halbrook

/s/ MICHAEL H. JOYCE Director November 29, 2005

Michael H. Joyce

/s/ MARY L. PETROVICH Director November 29, 2005

Mary L. Petrovich

/s/ LARRY E. RITTENBERG Director November 29, 2005

Larry E. Rittenberg

/s/ JAMES R. RULSEH Director November 29, 2005

James R. Rulseh

/s/ MICHAEL T. YONKER Director November 29, 2005

Michael T. Yonker
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WOODWARD GOVERNOR COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES

SCHEDULE II Ì VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS
for the years ended September 30, 2005, 2004, and 2003

(In thousands of dollars)
Column A Column B Column C Column D Column E

Additions

Balance at Charged to Charged to Balance
Beginning Costs and Other at End of

Description of Year Expenses Accounts(A) Deductions(B) Year

2005:

Allowance for doubtful accounts ÏÏÏÏÏ $2,836 $(98) $281 $(1,054) $1,965

2004:

Allowance for doubtful accounts ÏÏÏÏÏ $2,601 $462 $718 $ 945 $2,836

2003:

Allowance for doubtful accounts ÏÏÏÏÏ $2,717 $672 $ 68 $ (856) $2,601

Notes:

(A) Includes recoveries of accounts previously written off.

(B) Represents accounts written off and foreign currency translation adjustments. Currency translation
adjustments resulted in decreases to the reserve of $22 in 2005 and increases in the reserve of $45 in 2004
and $186 in 2003.
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Directors

John A. Halbrook
Chairman of the Board,  
Woodward Governor Company

John D. Cohn
Senior Vice President, Strategic 
Development and Communications, 
Rockwell Automation, Inc.

Paul Donovan
Retired Executive Vice President 
and Chief Financial Officer, 
Wisconsin Energy Corporation

Thomas A. Gendron
President and  
Chief Executive Officer,  
Woodward Governor Company

Michael H. Joyce
President and  
Chief Operating Officer,  
Twin Disc, Incorporated

Mary L. Petrovich
Chief Executive Officer,  
AxleTech International

Larry E. Rittenberg
Ernst & Young Professor of 
Accounting & Information Systems, 
University of Wisconsin

James R. Rulseh
Group Vice President,  
Modine Manufacturing Company

Michael T. Yonker
Retired President and  
Chief Executive Officer, Portec, Inc.

Officers

John A. Halbrook
Chairman of the Board

Thomas A. Gendron
President and  
Chief Executive Officer

Robert F. Weber, Jr.
Chief Financial Officer  
and Treasurer

Dennis M. Benning
Vice President, General Manager 
Fluid Systems and Controls

Donald J. Bergholz
Vice President, General Manager 
Turbine Combustion Systems

Martin V. Glass
Vice President, General Manager 
Aircraft Engine Systems

Gerhard Lauffer
Vice President, General Manager 
Electronic Controls

Chad R. Preiss
Vice President, General Manager 
Industrial Controls

Gerard Willemsen
Vice President, General Manager 
Diesel Fuel Systems and  
European Operations

Carol J. Manning
Corporate Secretary

O F F I C E R  A N D  I N V E S T O R  I N F O R M AT I O N

Investor Information

Woodward Governor Company
Corporate Headquarters
5001 North Second Street
P.O. Box 7001
Rockford, IL 61125-7001
1-815-877-7441
www.woodward.com

Transfer Agent and Registrar
American Stock Transfer &  
Trust Company
Shareholder Services
59 Maiden Lane
Plaza Level
New York, NY 10038
1-800-937-5449

Shareholder Account Assistance
Shareholders who wish to change 
the address or ownership of stock, 
report lost certificates, eliminate 
duplicate mailings, or for other 
account registration procedures  
and assistance, should contact the 
Transfer Agent at the address or 
phone number on this page.

Dividend Reinvestment Plan and 
Direct Deposit of Dividends
Woodward offers shareholders  
of record a convenient Dividend 
Reinvestment and Direct Stock 
Purchase and Sale Plan. Through 
this Plan, shareholders have  
options to purchase or sell shares 
of Woodward stock, have their 
dividends automatically reinvested 
in Woodward common stock and 
to make periodic supplemental 
cash payments to purchase 
additional shares.

For further information and an 
authorization form, contact the 
Transfer Agent at the address or 
phone number on this page.

Annual Meeting
January 25, 2006, at 10:00 a.m.
NIU-Rockford
8500 E. State Street
Rockford, IL 61108

Stock Exchange
Nasdaq National Market
Ticker Symbol: WGOV
SEC filings are available on our 
website at www.woodward.com

An Equal Opportunity Employer
It is Woodward’s policy to provide equal 
employment opportunity for all qualified 
members and applicants without regard to 
race, color, religion, age, sex, national origin, 
disability, sexual orientation, veteran’s or 
marital status, and to base all employment 
decisions so as to further this principle of 
equal employment opportunity.
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Woodward Governor Company
5001 North Second Street, P.O. Box 7001

Rockford, Illinois 61125-7001 USA
815-877-7441   

www.woodward.com

FRONT COVER PHOTOS: 
1. The petrochemical processing industries are one of four core market applications for Woodward energy control technologies. 2. Our gaseous fuel control system for small mobile 
industrial engines helps optimize emissions and performance. 3. Woodward provides products and aftermarket services for the V2500 engines that power the popular Airbus A320 
family. 4. Our first production actuator for GE is on the CF34-10E engine, which powers the new 90-seat Embraer 190 aircraft. 5. From forklift trucks to ocean-going container ships, 
transportation is a vital growth market application for our energy control systems solutions. 6. Woodward is developing fuel system components for the F135 and F136 engines, 
choices for the F-35 Joint Strike Fighter. 7. Electric actuators and solenoids are key components in small engine control systems. 8. Natural gas engines use Woodward energy 
control technologies to enhance emissions and performance. (Photo: William A. Cotton/Colorado State University) 9. The Queen Mary 2 showcases Woodward’s fuel, emissions,  
and power management control technologies on the ship’s four diesel and two gas turbine engines. 10. Woodward’s inaugural aircraft engine ignition system is part of the Pratt & 
Whitney Canada PW600 engine family for the very light jet market. 11. The reliability and performance of steam turbines for the processing and power generation industries benefit 
from Woodward electronic control and actuation technologies. 12. Innovations in the design and manufacturing of gas turbine combustion nozzles drive market share growth for 
Woodward. 13. Woodward’s new T701D fuel system will build on our tradition of supplying the current T700 HMU for Black Hawk and Apache helicopters. 14. Integrated control 
systems for small electric power generation equipment, such as the easY™gen-1000 genset control, meet market demands for cost-effective, easy-to-use equipment. 15. Designed 
for high reliability and performance, Woodward actuators and valves are key components in gas turbine fuel systems. 16. Innovative approaches to valve systems help Woodward 
expand from our core markets to auxiliary fluid control applications. 17. Being named as fuel systems integrator for GE’s new GEnx turbofan engine for the Boeing 787 highlights  
the market appeal of Woodward’s systems strategy. 18. Precise control of fuel flow in a diesel fuel injection system improves combustion quality for low emissions and high fuel 
efficiency. 19. Economic growth drives demand for electric power generation equipment, a core market application for Woodward. 20. Mandates for lower emissions and energy 
independence increase demand for Woodward’s integrated control systems for LPG and CNG bus engines. 21. Our new fuel systems test facility enables Woodward to build value  
as a systems integrator. 22. In-house design, development, and manufacture of electro-hydraulic servovalves give Woodward’s fuel metering unit platform a competitive advantage.
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